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EUNICE. LOUISIANA 70535 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Honorable Nicholas Degueyter, Mayor, 
and Members of the Board of Alderman 
Town of Leonville, Louisiana 

Rcpor1 on Financial Statements 

Opi11io11s 

TELEPHONE: 
337-457-9324 

FAX: 
337-457-8743 

We have audited the accompanying financial statemencs of the governmental act1v1t1es, the business-type, activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Leonville, Louisiana, as of and for the year ended 
June J 0, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town 's basic financial 
staiernenls as li sted in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type, act ivities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
in format ion of the Town of Leonville, Louisiana, as of Ju ne 30. 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, thereof 
for the year then ended in accordance wit h accounti ng principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opi11io11s 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits conta ined in Gorernmenr Auditing S1andards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards me fur1her described in the Auditor' s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the r-inancial Statements section of our repoti. We are required to be independent of the Town of Leonville, 
Louisiana and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We be lieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a bas is for our audit 
opinions. 

Responsibilities of Mmwgeme111 for the Fina11cinl Stalem e111s 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance wilh 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and fo r the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preraration and fair presentation of fimrncia l statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or en-or. 

In preparing the financial statements, management i~ required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, cons idered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town of Leonville, Louisiana's ability to continue as a going concern for 
twelve months beyond the financial slalement date, including any currently known infonnation that may raise substantial 
doubt shortly thereafter. 



Auditor's .Respo11sibilitiesfor the Audit of tlte Filla11cial Statement.\· 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee tlrnt an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards and Governmenl Auditing Standard.~ wi ll always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resul ting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve co llusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, indi vidually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the j udgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In perfonning an audit in accordance with general ly accepted aud iting standards and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skeptic ism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perfonn audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to rhe audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of 
Leonvillc's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by rn anagement, as wel I as evaluate lhe overal I presenlal ion of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 
doubt about the Town of Leon v i Ile' s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period oft ime. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit, significant aud it fi ndings, and certain internal contro l-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Ret1uired Suppleme11wry luformntirm 

Account ing principles generally accepted in the United States of A merica require that the budgetary compar ison information, 
schedu le of employers share of net pension liabi li ty, and schedule of employer contributions on pages 44 through 49 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such info1mation is the responsibili ty of management and, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is requ ired by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial report ing for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied ce11ain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Management has omitted management's discussion and analysis that accounting princ iples generally accepted in the United 
States of America require 10 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing infonnation, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational , economic or 
historical context. Our opinion on rhe basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information. 
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Supplementary h,formalio11 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of form ing opinions on the financial statements that collect ively comprise the Town 
of Leonville, Louisiana's basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
presented for the purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financ ial statements. The 
accompanying judicial system funding schedule, and the schedule of compensation, benefits, and other payments to agency 
head, as listed in the table of contents, as required by the State of Louisiana, is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such infom1at ion is the responsibil ity of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconcilini such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the ba<;ic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, the judicial system funding schedu le, and the schedule of 
compensation, benefits, and other payments to agency head are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a who le. 

Other Reporting Required by Gnvemmenl A udi1i11g Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 14, 2023, on our 
consideration of the Town of Leonville, Louisiana 's internal control over financial repo11ing and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compl iance and the results of that 
test ing, and not to prov ide an opinion on the effectiveness of Town of Leonvilte·s internal control over financial reporting or 
on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance- with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Town of Leonville, Louisiana' s internal control over financial reporting and compl iance. 

V 'y, o1~= t M 
Vige, Tujague & Noel 
Eunice, Louisiana 
November 14, 2023 

J 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2023 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities 

ASSETS 
Cu1nn1 assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 45.526 $ 1,324,885 $ 

Receivables, net 265,38 1 15 1,0 74 
Unbilled receivables 60,937 
Prepaid insurance 14 ,250 56,5 11 
Unamoni,ed revenue bond insurance 26,571 
O ther assets 112,408 

Total current assets 325,157 1,732,386 

Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 33,083 
Capi1al assets. net 1,881,301 10,832,21 I 

Total noncurrent assets 1,881.30 I 10,865,294 

Total assets 2,206,458 12,597,680 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows related to pensions 154,902 117,314 

LIABILITIES 
C u1Ten1 liabilities: 

Accounts and other payables 249,398 88,937 
Compensated absences 5,850 13,430 
Current port ion of bonds payable 190,000 

Total cun-ent liabilities 255,248 292,367 

Noncurrent liabi Ii ties: 
Customers deposits payable 41,359 
Re venue bonds payable 4,775,000 
Unamortized revenue bond premium 362,485 
Net pension liability 310,130 350,549 

Total noncurrent liabilities 3 I 0. 130 5,529,393 

Total liabilities 565,378 5,821,760 

DEFERRED INFLOWS Of RESOURCES 
Deferred in nows related 10 pensions 28,678 9 ,558 

NET POSITION 
Invested in capital assets. net of related debt 1,881,30 1 5,504 ,726 
Res1ricted for debt service 33 ,083 
Unres1ricted (I 13,997) 1,345,867 

Total net position $ 1,767,304 $ 6,883,676 $ 

The accompanying noles are an integral part of the basic financial sta1emen1s. 
6 

To tal 

1,370,41 1 
416,455 

60,937 
70,761 
26.571 

112 408 
2,057,543 

33,083 
12,7 1315 12 
12,746,595 

14,804,138 

272,2 16 

338,335 
19,280 

J 90 000 
547,6 15 

41,359 
4,775,000 

362,485 
660,679 

5,8391523 

6,387! 138 

38.236 

7,386,027 
33,083 

1,23 11870 

8,650,980 



Activities 
Governmental activities: 

General government $ 

Public safety: 
Police 
Streets 
Total governmental activities 

Business-type activities: 
Utility 

Total business-type activities 

Total $ 

TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Prooram Revenues Net (Expenses) Revenues and 
Fees, Fines Operating Capital 

and Charges Grants and Grants and Governmental 
Ex~enses for Services Contributions Contributions Activities 

112,514 $ 397,808 $ 285,294 

246,138 20,535 uoo (224,103) 
104,634 (104,634) 
463,286 20,535 1,500 397,808 (43,443) 

1,676,158 1,758,088 343,072 
1,676,158 I ,758,088 343,072 

2,139,444 $ 1,778,623 $ 1,500 $ 740,880 (43,443) 

General revenues: 
Taxes -

Franchise and chain store taxes 85,489 
Licenses and perm its 35.341 
1 ntergovcrn mental 47,430 
I merest and investment earnings 12 
Nonemployer pension contributions 6,993 
Miscellaneous 7,119 
Transfers 139,884 

Total general revenues and transfers 322,268 
Changes in net assets 278,825 

Net position - June 30, 2022 1,488,479 
Net position - June 30, 2023 s 1,767,304 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 
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Changes in Net Position 
Business-Type 

Activities 

$ $ 

425,002 
425,002 

425,002 

6, 166 
38,743 
21,522 

(139,884) 
(73,453) 
351,549 

6,532,127 
$ 6,883,676 $ 

Total 

285,294 

(224,103) 
(104,634) 

(43,443) 

425,002 
425.002 

381,559 

85,489 
35,34 I 
47,430 

6,178 
45,736 
28,641 

248,815 
630,374 

8,020.606 
8,650,980 



FUND FJNANClA L STA TEM"ENTS (FFS) 
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ASSETS 
Cl'tsh 
Receivables 

f ranchise fees receivable 
Grants receivable 
lntcrgovernmel)tal receivable 

Prepaid insurance 
Total assets 

TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2023 

LIAB ILITI ES AND f UND BALANCES 
Liabil ities 

Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 

Toial liabilit ies 

Fund balances: 
Unassigned 

Total fund balance 

Total liabilities and fund balance 

The accompanying no tes are an integrnl part o f the basic financia l sta tements . 
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General 
Fund 

$ 45,526 

13,235 
246,2 14 

5.932 
14 250 

$ 325 157 

13 1,979 
117,419 
249 398 

75,759 
75,759 

$ 325. 157 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE. LOUISIANA 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Bal<1ncc Shee1 

10 the Statemen1 ofNe1 Position 
June 30. 2023 

Total fund balances for governmental funds at June 30. 2023 

Total net position reported for governmental activities in the statemenc 
of net position is different because: 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and, therefore, are not reponed in the funds. Those 
assets consist of: 

Land 
Buildings, net of $ 152.692 accumulated depreciation 
lnfraslructure. net of$600,242 accumulated depreciation 
Equipment & other. net of$ 140,548 accumulated deprc l·ia tiun 

Amounts related to pension recognition are not due and pay,tble 
in the current period and. therefore. are not reponed in the funds 

Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, 
therefore. are not reported as liabili1ies in the funds. 

Compensated abences 

Total net position of governmental activities at June 30. 2023 

$ 8,912 
47, 130 

l.822,135 
3. 124 

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of the basic linancia l statements. 
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75,759 

1,881,301 

(183,906) 

(5,850) 

$ 1,767,304 



Revenues: 
Licenses and perinils 
Franchise fees 
Fines and forfeits 
I ll!ergovernmental 
M isce I laneous 

Tota l revenue~ 
Expenditures: 
Current -

G~neral government 
Public safety: 

Police 
Streets and drainage 

Capital outlay 
Total expenditures 

TOWN Of LEONVILLE. LOU ISIANA 
Stmement of Revenues, Expenditures. and 

Changes in Fund B<1lances -
Governmental Funds 

For the Year Ended June 30. 2023 

Excess (deficiency) or 
revenues over 

expenditures 

Other 11nancing sources (uses): 
Operating transfers in 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues and other 
sources over expenditures 
and other uses 

Fund balance, beginning 

F'und balances, ending 

$ 35,341 
85,489 
20,535 

446,738 
7, IJ I 

595,234 

109,60 1 

214,807 
24,539 

399,444 
748,391 

( 153, l 57) 

139,884 

139,884 

(1 3,273) 

89,032 

$ 75,759 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial s1111ements. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE. LOUISIANA 
Reconci I iat ion of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Total net changes in fund balances at June 30, 2023 per Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Ba lances 

The change in net position reported for governmental activities in the 
statement of activities is different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. 
1-Jowcv~r, in the siatement of activities. the cost or those assets is 

allocc1ted over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation 
expense. 

Capital outlay which is considered expenditures on Statement of 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2023 

$ 399,444 

Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
current financ ial resources and, therefore. are not reported as expenditures 
in the govcmmental funds. 

Compensated absences 

Net eOect of pension liability recognition 

Toial changes in net position at June 30, 2023 per S1a1emen1 of Activit ies 

(93,3.58) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements. 
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$ ( l 3,273) 

306,086 

(1 ,452} 

( 12,536) 

$ 278.825 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Proprietary Fund 

Stalcmenl ofNe1 Position 

ASSETS 
Cash 
Receivables: 

Accounts receivable 
Unbilled receivables 
Other receivables 

Restricted assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Prepaid insurance 
Unamo1iized revenue bond insurance 
Utility property plant and equipment 
Accumulated depreciation 
Due from other funds 

Total assets 

June 30, 2023 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outnows related to pensions 

LJABI LITIES 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Compensated absences 
Accrued interes1 payable 
Current port ion of revenue bonds payable 

Total current liabilities 
Noncurrent liabililies: 

Pa)'a b le from restricted assets­
Cu s1omers' deposits 
Revenue bonds payable 
Unamortized bond premium 
Net pension liability 

Total noncurrent I iabilit ies 

Total liabilities 

DEFERRED INFLOWS Of RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows related to pensions 

NET POSITION 
Investment in general fixed assets. 

net of related debt 
Restricted for debt service/customer deposits 
Un rest ric led 

Total net position 

Utility Fund 
$ 1,324,885 

151-074 
60,937 

50 

33,083 
56,511 

26,571 
17,559,35 I 

(6,727,140) 
l 12,358 

12,597,680 

117,314 

57,516 
19,008 
13.430 
12,413 

190,000 
292.367 

41,359 
4,775,000 

362.485 
350,549 

5,529,393 

5,821,760 

9,558 

5,504,726 
33,083 

l ,345,867 
$ 6,883,676 

The accompanying notes are an integral part or the basic financial statements. 
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TOWN OF LEON VILLE. LO UISIANA 
Proprietary rund 

State ment of Revenues, Expenses. and Changes 
in Fund Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30. 2023 

! ltilry Fung 
Operat ing revenues: 

Charges for services -
Gas sales $ 
W;iter sales 
Sewer service charges 
Penalties and late fees 

M isce I laneous re venues 
Total operating revenues 

Ope raring expenses: 
Cost of sales and services 
Genernl and administrative 
Depreciation 

Tora I operating expenses 

Operating income 

Nonopcraling revenues (expenses): 
Interest income 
Interest expense 
Nonemployer pension contributions 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Income before contributions and transfers 

Operating contributio ns and transfers: 
Capita l contributions 
Opcraling transfers out 

Tota l operating contributions a nd transfers 

Change in net posit ion 

Net position, beginning 

Net posit ion, ending $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of the basic fin anc ial s rntements. 
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105,2 10 
1,490,082 

107,561 
55,235 
2 1,522 

1,779,610 

44.480 
1,1 38,429 

372,870 
1,555,779 

223,831 

6, 166 
(1 20,379) 

38,743 
(75,470) 

148,36 1 

343,072 
( 139,884) 
203, 188 

351 ,549 

6,532, 127 

6,883,676 



TOWN OF L EONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
S1a1ement of Cash f lows 

Proprietary Funds 
For 1he Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Utility Fund 
Cnsh nows from operating activities: 

Receipts from customers 
Payments 10 suppliers 
Payments to employees 
Other receipts 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activi ties 

Cash nows from noncapila l financing activities: 
Nonemployer pension contributions 
Cash paid to other funds 

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities 

Cash nows !Tom capital and re lated financing m;tivitics: 
Principal paid on debt 
Interest paid on debt 
Revenue bond insurance 
Revenue hond premium 
Proceeds from meter deposits (net) 
Contributed capital 
Acquisition of propeny. plant and equipment 

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities 

Cash nows from investing activities: 
Interest on investments 

Net cash provided by investing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents. beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents, end or period 

$ 

$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral pan or the basic financial statements. 
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1,655, 177 
(739,949) 
(468,975) 

21 ,522 
467,775 

38,743 
{139,884) 
(101 , 141) 

(185,000) 
(120,841) 

1.334 
(33,659) 
12,894 

343,072 
(88,535) 
{70,735) 

6,166 
6,166 

302,065 

1,055,903 

1,357,968 



TOWN Of LEONVILLE. LOUISIANA 
Statement o f Cash Flows 

Proprie t11ry Funds {continued) 
for the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Utility Fund 
Reconci I iation of operating income to net cash used by operating activities: 

Operating income 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used by operat ing activi ties: 

Depreciation 
Changes in current asse1s and liabil ities: 

(Inc rease) decrease in accounts receivable 
( Increase) decrease in unbi lled receivables 
( Inc rease) decrease in other receivables 
( Increase) decrease in prepaid insurance 
(Increase) decrease in due fi-om o thers 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabi lities 
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences 
Increase (decrease) in ne t pension liabil ity 

Net cash provided (used} by opera ting activit ies 

Reconciliatio n of cash and cash equiva lents per s1atemen1 or cash llows 
to the statement of net posi t ion: 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning o f period­
Cash - unreslricted 
Cash - restric ted 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe riod -
Cash - unre~tricted 
Cash -- restricted 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

Net increase (decrease) 

Noncash Investing, Capi!al and Financing Activities 

$ 223,83 J 

372,870 

11 ,436 
(4 ,559) 

(50) 
7,969 

( I 09,738) 
2,213 
(912) 

3.458 
(38,743) 

$ 467,775 

$ 1,027.539 
28,364 

1,055,903 

1,324,885 
33,083 

1,357,968 

$ 302,065 

In 2023, Town or Leonville had $33.659 or bond premium amortized within inte rest expense . T his 
amount is included within the principal paid on wate r & sewer revenue refunding bonds, 
series 2021. 

ln 2023, Town of Leonville had $ I .334 o f bond insurance amortized w ithi11 insurance expense. This 
amount is included within the principal paid on wate r & sewer n:venue refund ing bonds. 
series 2021. 

The accompany ing no1es are an in1egral pan o f the basic financial statements. 
16 



(I) 

TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to rinanc ial Statements 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting and reporting practices of the Town of Leonville confonn to generally accepted 
accounting principles of the United States of America as applicable lo governmental units. GAA P includes 
all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. Such accounting and 
reporting procedures also conform lo the requirements of Louisiana Revised Statutes 24:5 17 and to the 
industry audit guide, Audits of State and Local Governmental Units, published by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. ' 

The following is a summary of certain significa111 accounting policies: 

A. Financial reporting Entity 

The Town of Leonville was incorpora1ed under the provisions of 1he Lawnison Act. The 
Town operates under the Mayor-Board of Alderman form of government. The Board consists of 
five elec1ed members. The Mayor and Board are compensated for their services at an amount 
legally set by the Board annually. 

This report includes all funds which are controlled by or dependent on the town executive 
and legislative branches (the Mayor and Board of Aldennan). Control by or dependence on the 
Town was detennined on the basis of fi nancial accountability. budget adoption, taxing authority, 
authority to issue debt, e lect ion or appointment of governing body, and other general oversight 
responsibili ty. The town has no component units or fiduciary fu nds. 

B. Basis of Prese,Hation 

Government-Wide financial Statements (G WFS) 

The statement of net position and sta1emen1 of activities display information about the 
Town of Leonville, the primary government, as a whole. They include all funds of the reponing 
entity. The statements distinguish between governmental and bus iness-type activities. 
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other nonexchange revenues. Busine~s-type act iv i1ies are financed in whole or in pan by fees 
charged to external parties for goods or services. 

The statement of activities presents a comparison betwei:n direct expenses and program 
revenues for the business-type ac1ivities of the Town and for each function of the Town 's 
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program 
or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues 
include (a) fees, fines. and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the 
programs, and (b) requirements or a pa11 icular program. Revenues that are 1101 classified as 
program revenues. including, all laxes. are presented as general revenues. 

Fund Financial Statements 

The accounts or the Town of Leonville arc organized on the basis of funds, each of wh ich 
is considered a separate accounting entity. Fund accounting is designed to demonslrate legal 
compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions relating 10 cenain 
government functions or activities. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate 
set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its a:5scts, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and 
expenditures, or expenses as approprime. 
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TOWN or LF.ONVI LLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to financial Statements (Conl inued) 

Government resources arc allocated to and accoun1cd for in individual funds based upon the 
purposes for which spending activities are controlled. The vi1rious· funds are grouped in the 
financial s1atements in this report, into four generic fund types and two broad fund calegories. The 
emphasis on fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds. each 
d isplayed in a separate column. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of 
the Town or meets the fo llowing criteria: 

a. Total assets, liabilities, revenues. or expenditures/expenses of that individual 
governmental or enterprise fund arc at least IO percent of the corresponding total for 
all funds of that category or type: and 

b. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the individual 
govcmmental or enterprise fund are al least S percent of the corresponding total for 
all governmental and enterprise funds combined 

,The major funds of the Town arc described below: 

Governmental Fund -

General Fund 

The General Fund is the general operating rund of the Town. It is used to account for all 
financial resources except !hose required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Proprietary Fund 

Enterprise Fund 

The Enterprise Fund is used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated 
in a manner similar to pri vate business enterprises - where the intent of !he governing body is that 
the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public 
on a continuing basis to be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the 
governing body has decided the periodic detenn ination of revenues eamed, expenses incurred, 
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control. 
accountabil ity or other purposes. The Town of Leonville's enterprise fund is the utility fund. It 
accounts for the provision of water. gas, and sewer services to residents of the Town. 

C. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting 

Measurement focus 1s the term used to describe '"which" transactions are recorded within 
the various financ ial statements. Basis of accounting refers to "when'' transactions are recorded 
regardless of the measurement focus applied. 

Measurement Focus 

On the government-wide statement of net position and the statement of activities, both 
governmental and business-type activities are presented using the economic resources 
measurement focus as defined in item b. below. 

18 

http:decid(.xj
http:charg.es


TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes IO Financial Statements (Continued) 

In the fund financial statements, the ·•current financial resources" measurement focus or 
the "econorn ic resources" measurement focus is used as appropria1e: 

a. All governmental funds utilize a "current financial resources'' measurement focus. 
Only current financial assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance 
sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable 
financial resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their 
measure of available spendable financial resources al the end of the period. 

b. The proprietary fund utilizes an "economic resources" measurement focus. The 
accounting object ives of 1his measurement focus are the detem1 ina1ion of operating 
income, changes in net position (or cost recovery). financial posit ion, and cash 
flows. All asse1s and liabi lities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with 
the ir activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as net posi1ion. 

Basis of Accounting 

In the government- wide statement of net pos1t1on and statement of activities, both 
governmental and business-type activities are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. 
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues t1re recognized when earned and expenses are 
recorded when the liabil ity is incurred, or economic asse1 used. 

Revenues, expenses. gains. losses. assets. and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange­
like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. 

Governmental fund financial statements are nccounted for using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Their revenues arc 
recognized when they become measurable and available as net current assets. Ad valorem taxes 
are recognized as revenue in the year in which they are billed. Fees and non-tax revenues are 
recognized when received. Grants from other governments are recognized when qualifying 
expenditures are incurred. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay current liabilities, usually 60 days. 

Those revenues susceptible to accrual are property taxes, grant revenues and interest 
revenue. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Town's 
pol icy to use restricted resources first , then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting 
when the related fund liability is incurred except that accumulated unpaid vacation and sick pay 
are not accrued and principal and interest on general long-term debt are recognized when due. 
Purchases of various operating supplies are regarded as expendilures at the time purchased. 

The proprietary fund is accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting, whereby 
revenues are recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

Bad debts are written off when accounts become wonhlcss. 

Transfers between funds that are not expected to be repaid are accounted for as qther 
financing sources (uses). These transactions are recorded when the transfers occur. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE. LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

Program revellues 

Program revenues included in the Statement of Activities are derived directly from the 
program itself or from parties outside the Town's taxpayers or citizenry, as a whole; program 
revenues reduce the cost of the function to be linanced from the Town 's general revenues. 

A llocmion of indirect expenses 

The Town reports all direct expenses by function in the Sta1eme11t of Act iv it ies. Direct 
expenses are those that are clearly identi liable with a function. Indirect expenses of other 
functions are not allocated 10 those functions, but are reported separately in the Statement of 
Activities. Depreciation expense is specifically identified by function and is included in the direct 
expense of each function. Interest on general long-tenn debt is considered an indirect expense and 
is reported separately on the Statement of Activities. 

D. ~ ital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plan1, and equipment, are reported in the 
applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the governmenl-wide financial 
statements. All capital assets are stated at historical cost or est ima1ed historical cost if actual 
historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are slated at their estimated fair value on the 
dale donated. Estimated amounts are imm.nerial in relation to total fixed assets. The town 
maintains a threshold level of $ 1000 or more for capitali2ing capital assets. 

The costs of nonnal maintenance and repairs tha1 do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. Prior to July I , 200 I, governmental funds' 
infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These assets have been valued at estimated historical 
cost. 

Depreciation of all e>.haustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the 
statement of activities, with accurnu lated depreciation rcnccted in the statement of net position. 
Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of 
depreciation. The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows: 

Buildings 
Equ ipment 
Utility system and improvements 
Infrastructure 

E. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

40 years 
5 years 

20-40 years 
20 years 

The Town follows these procedures in esrnblishing the budgetary data reflected in these 
financial statements: 

I. The Mayor prepares a proposed. detailed line item. budget and submits it to the Board of 
Alde11T1en no later than 30 days prior to the beginning o f each liscal year. Revenues are budgeted 
by source. Expenditures are budgeted by department and class. 

2. A summary of the proposed budget is published, and the public notified that the proposed 
budget is available for public inspection. At the same time, a public hearing is c111led. 

3. A public hearing is held on the proposed budget at least ten dnys after publication of the 
1,;all for the hearing. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

4. After the holding of the public hearing and completion of all action necessary 10 finalize 
and implement the budget, the budget is adopted through passage of a resolution prior to the 
commencement of the fiscal year for which the budget is being adopted. 

5. All)' budgetary revisions require the approval of the Mayor and Board of A ldem1en. 

6. All budgetary appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year. 

7. Budgets for all funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles of the United States of America. Budgeted amounts are as originally 
adopted or as amended from time to time by 1he Board of Aldennen . The budget was amended 
prior to the fi sca l year end June 30. 2023. 

F Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other 
commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order 10 reserve that portion of the 
applicable appropriation, is not employed by the Town as an extension of formal budgetary 
integration in the funds. 

G. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

H. 

Cash includes amounts in demand deposit, interest - bearing demand, and time deposits. 
Cash equivalents include amounts in time deposits and those investments with original maturities 
of 90 days or less when purchased. Under state law. the municipality may deposit funds in 
demand deposits, interest - bearing demand deposits, or time deposits with slilte banks organized 
under Louis iana law or any other state of the United States. or under the laws of the United States. 

Interest-bearing Deposits 

Interest-bearing deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. 

I. Statement of Cash Flows 

For purposes of the statement of cash nows, the Proprieiary Fund considers all highly 
liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 

J . Short Tenn lnterfund Receivables / Payables 

K. 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds 
for goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as due 
from other funds or due to other funds on the balance sheet Shon-tenn interfund loans are 
classified as interfund receivables/payables. Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and business-type activities are reponed in the government-wide financial 
slatements as "internal balances." 

Prs;i;,aid Hems 

Payments made 10 vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June JO, 2023, 
are recorded as prepaid items. 
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TOWN Of- LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Fimrncial Statements (Continued) 

L. Vacation and Sick Leave 

Vacation and sick leave are recorded as expenditures of the period in which 
paid. The vacation policy was amended by ordinance 114-2021. A vacation year is defined as a full 
calendar year beginning January I" and ending on the last day of December. Only forty (40) 
hours of accumulated vacation time can be paid out on final pay period in December. Anything 
over forty (40) hours will be lost with no cany over. Unused vacation is payable at time of 
termination of employment, limited to fony (40) hours. Compensated absences payable has been 
accrued for the unused vacation as of June 30. 2023. 

Sick leave of 80 hours is granted on January 1" of each year to full time employees. 
Although sick leave is available for employees when needed, it does not vest nor is it payable at 
tennination of employment. Therefore, no liabi lity has been recorded in the financial statements at 
June 30. 2023. 

M. Restricted Assets 

N. 

o. 

Restricted assets include cash and interest-bearing deposits of the proprietary fund 1hat 
are legally res1ricted as to their use. ·me restricted assets are related to the revenue bond ac<:ounts 
and utility meter deposi1s. At June 30, 2023. there was $33,083 res1ric1ed for debt service and $0 
for utility meter deposits. 

Long-term Debt 

The accounting trea1mcnl of long-term debt depends on whether the asse1s are used in 
governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are reported in the 
government-wide or fund financial statements. 

A II long-tenn debt to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources is 
reported as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-1enn debt consists primaril y 
of the revenue bonds payable and utility meter deposits payable and Net Pension Liabili1y. 

Long-tellTI debt for governmental funds is not reported as liabilities in the fund financial 
statements. ·me debt proceeds are reported as 01her financing sources and payment of principal 
iind interest reported as expenditures. [3ond premiums and discounts, are deferred and amortiz.ed 
over the life or the bonds using the effective interest method. 13onds payable are reponed net of 
the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as incurred. The Town 
incurred bond issuance costs in the amount of $0 during the year and is accounted for as an 
expense in the Utility Fund. The accoun1ing for proprie1ary fund long-tem1 debt is the same in the 
fund statements as it is in the government-wide statements. 

Equity Classifications 

In the government-wide statements, equity is c lassified as net position and displayed in 
1hree components: 

a. Invested in capital asse1s, net of related debt - Consists of capital assets including 
restric1ed capital assets, net of accumulated deprecia1ion and reduced by the outstanding 
balances of any bonds, mortgages. notes, or other borrowing tha1 are anribu1able lo the 
acqu isition, construction. or improvement of those asse1s. 
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TOWN OF LEONV ILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

b. Restricted net position - Consist of net position with constraints placed on the use either 
by (I) external groups, such as creditors. grant ors, contributors, or laws or regulations of 
other governments; or {2) law through constitution;il provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net position - /\II other net position that do not meet the definition of 
"restricted" or "invested in capital assets. net of related debt." 

In the fund financial statements. govemmenrnl funds report aggregate amount for five 
classifications of fund balances based on the constraints imposed on the use of these resources. 
The nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they 
are either (a) not in spendable fonn - prepaid items or inventories; or (b) legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. 

The spendable portion of the fund balance comprises the remaining four classifications: 
restricted. committed. assigned, and unassigned. 

Rcstricled fund balance. This classification renecls the constraints imposed on resources 
either {a) externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments: or (b) imp◊sed by law through consti tutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for specific purposes pursuant 
10 constraints imposed by formal resolutions or ordinances of the town council - the government 's 
highest level of decision making authority. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any 
other purpose unless the Lown council removes the specified use by taking the same type of action 
imposing the commitment. This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent 
that existing resources in the fund have been specilically committed for use in satisfying those 
contractual requirements. 

Assigned fund balance. This classification renccts the amounts constrained by the 
town' s ·'intent'' to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The 
town council and town manager have the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific 
purposes. Assigned fund balances include all remaining amounts (except negative balances) that 
are reported in governmental funds, other than the General Fund, that are not classified as 
nonspendable and are neither restricted nor committed. 

Unassig,ned fund balance. This fund balance is the residual classification for the General 
Fulld. It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds . 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted 
fund balance is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an 
expenditure is incurred for which comm i1ted, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, 
the Town considers the amounts 10 have been spent first out of commi11ed funds. then assigned 
funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the Town has provided otherwise in its 
commitment or assignment action~ 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses 

Operating (Nonoperating) Revenues and Expenses 

Operating revenues and expenses for proprietary funds are those that result from providing 
services and producing and delivering goods and/or services. It also includes all revenue and 
ex penses not related to capital and related financing, noncapital financing, or investing activities. 
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

Expcnditures/fapcnses 

In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for both 
governmental and business-lype activities. 

In the fund financial scmemems, expenditures are classified as follows: 

Governmental Funds•· By Character: 
Proprietary Fund -- By Operating and Nonoperating 

Jn the fund financial srntements, governmental funds rcpon expenditures of financial 
resources. Proprietary funds report expenses relating to use of economic resources. 

lnterfund Transfers 

Pemianem reallocations of resources between funds of the reporting entity are classified 
as interfund transfers. For the purposes of the statement of activities, all interfund transfers 
between individual governmental funds have been eliminated. 

Q. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 

A 11 receivables that hiscorically experience uncol lectible accounts are shown net of an 
allowance for cloublfu I accounts. The Town bases its allowance on prior experience and the 
amount trade receivables exceed meter deposits. 

R. Revenue Resrrictions 

The Town has various rcstric1ions placed over ceriain revenue sources from state or local 
requirements. The primary res1ricted revenue sources include: 

Revenue Source 
Utility Fund Revenue 

Legal Restriction of Use 
Debt Service and U1i lity Operations 

S. Deferred Outnows of Resources and Deferred In nows of Resources 

In some instances, the GA SB requires a government to delay recognition of decreases in 
net position as expenditures until a fu1ure period. In other instances. governments are required to 
delay recognition of increases in net position as revenues until a future period. ln these 
circumstances, deferred out nows of resources and deferred in nows of resources result from the 
delayed recognition of expenditures or revenues. respectively. Deferred outflows of n:sources 
include a deferred charge on debt refunding. A deferred charge on refunding results from the 
difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred 
and amortized over the shon:er of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

U. Subsequent Events 

FASB issued SF AS No 165. Subsequent f vents (ASC 855) establishes general standards 
for accounting for and disclosures or events that occur after the balance sheet date but before 
financial statements arc issued or are available co be issued. We have evaluated events subsequent 
to the balance sheet through November 14, 2023, the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued. 
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TOWN or LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

Deposits with Financial Institutions 

The cash and cash equivalents of the Town are subject to the following risk: 

C11s1od1al Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk. for deposits. is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 
depository financial institution, the Town will not be able to recover its deposits. Under stale law, these 
depos its (or the resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of 
securities owned by the fiscal agent bank. The market value of tl1e pledged securities plus the federal 
depos it insurance must at all times equal or exceed the amount on deposit with the fi scal agent. These 
securities are held in the name of the pledging fiscal agent bank in a holding or custodial bank that is 
mutually acceptable to both parties. Louisiana Revised Statute 39: 1229 imposes a statutory requirement on 
the custodial bank to advertise ,md sell the pledged securities within 10 days of being notified by the Town 
thm the fiscal agent bank has failed to pay deposited funds upon demand. Further, Louisiana Revised 
Statute 39: 1224 states that securities held by a third party shalt be deemed to be held in the Town's name. 

Ac June 30, 2023. the Town has cash and cash equivalents (book balances) tota ling $1 .403,494 as 
follows: 

Demand deposits 
Total 

$ 1,403,494 
$ 1,403.494 

These deposits are stated at cost, which approxima1es market Deposit balances (bank balances) at 
June 30, 2023, are secured as follows: 

Regions Bank Washinston Stale Bank 
Interest Interest Non lnceresc 
Bearing n earing B~aring 

Bank balances $ 33,083 $ 1,339.710 $ 36,552 

f'ederal deposit insurance $ 250,000 $ 250,000 $ 250,000 
Pledged securities (Cacegory 3) 1,245,000 

Total 250,000 1,495,000 250,000 

Excess/( Shortage) $ 216,917 $ 155,290 $ 2 13,448 

Pledged securities in Category 3 inc Jude uninsured or unregistered investments for which the 
securities are held by the broker or dealer, or by ils trust department or agent. but not in the Town's name. 
Even though the pledged securities are considered uncollateralized (Category 3) Louisiana Revised Stacue 
39: 1229 imposes a statutory requirement on the custodial bank to advertise and sell the pledged securit ies 
within 10 days of being notified by the Town that the fiscal agent has failed to pay deposited funds upon 
demand. 

Restricted Assets 

Restricted Assets were applicable co the following al June 30, 2023. 

Proprietary Fund: 
Utility Fund 

Debt Service fund $ 33,083 
Total Restricted Assets $ 33 083 

25 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIJ\NJ\ 
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(4) Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 

Bahtnc1: 8alancc 
July I. 2022 Addi1i0n, Deletions June JO, 2023 

Governmental ,1cti\·1tics: 
Cap ital assets not bcingdcprccia1cd: 

Lm1d $ 8.912 $ $ $ 8,912 
Other capital assets: 

UuilJing.~ 199.822 199.822 
lnfm<;1ruc1urc 2.022.933 399,<1<14 2.422.377 
Equipment 143.672 143,672 

1·01als 2.375.339 399.444 2. 774. 783 
Less accumulated dcprccial ion 

lluildinl!-' 147,766 4.926 l52.692 
lnfrast ruct urc 520. 147 80.095 600,242 
Equipment 132.211 8.337 140,548 

Total accunrnlatcd dcprcciat ion 800,124 93.358 893.1182 

uovcrn111c111~1 aclivitics. capital assets. net '.j, l.575.215 l, JU6.U86 l, $ 1,881,301 

13usincss-ty pc act ivi1ics: 
Capital a55ets n01 ticingdepreciated: 

Land $ 74.860 $ $ $ 74,860 
Other cap ital assets: 

Utility system and c:-.1<·11.sions I (,.822.077 8/U.15 (24,280) 16.886.332 
Machinery and cquipm..:nl 598.159 598.159 

I otals 17.495.096 88,535 (24,280) 17,559.351 

Less accumulated dcprcc1mion 
Utility syslcm and c:-.1cnsions 5.866.515 J,17.661 (24.280) 6.189,896 
M achincry and cquiprnc111 5 12.035 25.209 537,244 

Total accumulated dcprcciat ion 6.378.550 372.870 (24.280) 6,727,1 40 

Business lypc m:11vi11cs, capital as~cls, net $ 11. I 16,54<, ~ (284,335) $ $ I 0,832,21 l 

Depreciation expense was charged lo governrnentlll activities as rollows: 

General governmental $ 4,926 
Police 8,337 

Streets 80,095 
Total depreciation expense $ 93,358 

Depreciation expense was charged to business-type activities as follows: 

Gas $ 16,814 
Water 218,359 
Sewer 137.697 

Torn I depreciation expense $ 372,870 
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(5) Changes in Long-Tenn Debt 

The following is a summary of debt transactions in the proprietary rund of the Town of Leonville, 
Louisiana for the year ended June 30, 2023: 

Waler & sewer revenue refunding 
bonds, series 2021 $ 

$ 

Payable at 
July I. 2022 

5,150,000 
5,150,000 

Add: Unamortized premium on bond issue 

Total reported on statement of net position 

Additions 

$ 

$ 

Retiremems 

$ (185,000) 
$ (185,000) 

Revenue bonds payable at June 30, 2023 is comprised of 1he following individual issues: 

$5,365,000 par value, Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021, 
with an issuance date of April 28, 2021. Amount due in annual paymen1s on June I st 
of each year with interest payments due on June l st and December I st of each year. 
with a coupon rate of]%. Bonds were sold at a premium of$437, 122 resuhing in an 
effective rnle of 2.325%. The payment of principal or interest on the Bonds will not be 
guaran1eed, in whole or in part, by the United S1a1es. or any agency or instrumentality 
thereof. The Town has purchased a municipal bond insurance policy in the amount of 
$29,462 which is amortized over the !ifr of the Bonds. 

Total Revenue Bonds Payable 

Less Current Portion 

Revenue Bonds Payable 

Sewer and Water Debt Reserve Requirements 

Payable at 
June 30, 2023 

$ 4,965.000 
$ 4,965,000 

362,485 

$ 5,327,485 

$ 4,965,000 

4,965,000 

190,000 

$ 4,775,000 

The debt reserve requirements are no longer required on the refunded notes and bonds. The 
amounts that were previously restricted have been reclassi tied to non-restricted cash balances as of April 
28, 2021, 1he date of the refunding. 

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding, Bonds, Series 2021 

A II payments of principal of and interest in the 13onds arc to be made from a debt service fund 
established by the Town, the "Bond Fund''. The 13ond fund serves as a debt service fund for the payment 
of principal and interest on the bonds. A mounts deposited into the bond Fund which are required to pay a 
portion of the next maturing principal of and next due interest on the Bonds are expected to be deposited 
monthly (but not more than one (I) year prior lo such paymcnl). All such amounts together with in vestment 
income thereon will be used to pay such principal and interest within chineen (13) months from the date of 
receipt. The balance in the Bond Fund at year end amounted to $33,083 and followed the Bond instrument. 
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The annual requirements 10 amoni7.e all Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2021 
are as follows: 

Year Ending Principal Interest 
June 30, Total ra~mcnts Patments 

2024 338,9.50 190,000 148,950 
202.5 338,250 195.000 143,250 
2026 342,400 205.000 137,400 
2027 34 l ,250 2)0,000 131,250 
2028 ]39,950 2 l 5.000 124,950 

2029-2033 1,699, 100 I, 175,000 524, I 00 
2034-2038 1,697.200 1,360.000 337,200 
2039-2043 1,539.200 1,4 I 5,000 124,200 

$ 6,636,300 $ 4,965,000 $ 1,671 ,300 

ln1ercs1 expense touiled $ 120,379 and is included in business type ac11vn1es as an expense. 
Interest expense has been reduced by bond premium amortization or$33,659 for the year. 

(6) Utility Customer Deposits 

(7) 

The accounts of the Town include a liability for uciliry customer deposits of $41,145. As or June 
30, 2023, the Town has a meter deposit account with a balance of $0 specifically set aside for customer 
mecer deposits. 

Pension Plans 

Plan Descriptions 

ln addicion to the federal social security syscem, substantially all employees of the Town of 
Leonville are members of the following scatewide retirement systems: Municipal Employees Relirement 
System of Louisiana. These syscems are cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans 
administered by separate boards of trustees. Article I 0, Section 29 of the Louisiana Constitution of 1974 
assigns the auchority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the state legislature. The systems issue 
annual, publicly-avai I able financial reports that include financial statements and required supplementary 
information for the systems. The rcpon for MERS may he obtained at www.mersla.com and 
www.lampers.org, respeclively. 

Plan Description- MERS 

The Municipal Employees' Retiremenr System of Louisiana (System) was originally established 
by Act 356 of the 1954 regular session of the Legislature of the State of Louisiana 10 provide retirement 
benefits to employees of all incorporated villages, towns. and cities within the state, which did 001 have 
their own reti remenl system and which elected 10 become members of the System. 

The System is administered by a Board of Trustees composed of eleven members, three of whom 
shall be accivc and contributing members of the System wi th at least cen years creditable service and who 
are elected 10 office in accordance with che Louisiana Election Code, three of whom shall be active and 
contributing members of the System with at lease cen years creditable service and who are not elected 
oflicials; one or whom shall be president of the Louisianu Mun ic ipal Associacion who shall serve as an ex• 
officio member during his tenure ; one of whom shiill be the Chainnan or che Senate Retirement Committee; 
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and one or v.·hom shall be the Chairman of lhc House Retirement Committee of the Legislature of 
Louisiana; the commissioner of administration, who shall be a nonvoting member: and the State Treasurer, 
who shall be a nonvoting member. 

The System b the administrator ofa cost-sharing mulliple-cmployer defined benefit pension plan. 
The System was established and provided for by R.S. l 1: 1731 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes (LRS). 

Act t/569 of the year 1968 established by the Legislature of the State of Louisiana provides an 
optional method for municipalities to cancel Social Security and come under supplementary benefits in the 
Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana, effective on and a~er June 30, 1970. 

Effec1ive October I, 1978, under Ac1 11788, the ''regular plan" and the "supplemental plan" were 
replaced, and arc now known as Plan "A" and Plan ·'B". Plan A combines the original plan and the 
supplemental plan for those municipalities participating in both plans, while Plan B participates in only the 
original plan. 

Eligibility Requin::ments: 

Membership is mandatory as a condition of employment beginning on the date employed if the 
employee is on a pennanent basis working at lease chiny-live hours per week. Those individuals paid 
join1ly by a participating employer and the parish are not eligible for membership in the System with 
except ions as outlined in the statues. 

Any Person eligible for membership whose first employmcn1 making him eligible for membership 
in the System occurred on or after January I, 20 l 3 sh al I become a mern ber of the MERS Plan A Tier 2 or 
MERS Plan B Tier 2 of the System as a condition of employment. 

Benefits Provided: 

Ret irem ent Benefi1s- M ERS 

Any member of Plan B who commenced participation in the System prior to January I, 
2013 can retire providing they meet one of the following criteria: 

l. Any age with thiny (30) years of creditable service. 
2, Age 60 with a min iinum of ten ( I 0) or more years of credililble service. 
3. Any age with len ( I 0) years of creditable service eligible for disabi lily benefits. 
4. Survivor's benefits require five (5) years of creditable service at death of member. 

Generally. the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan B shall 
consist of an amount equal to two percent of the member's monthly average final compensation 
muHiplied by his years of creditable service. Final average compensation is the average monthly 
earnings during the highest sixty consecuiive months. or joined months if service was interTupted, 
However, under certain condicions as outlined in the s!a!utes, the benefits are limited to specified 
amounts. 
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Any member of Plan B Tier 2 shall be eligible for re1iremen1 if they meet one of the 
fol lowing requirements: 

I . Age 67 with seven (7) years of creditable service. 
2. Age 62 with ten (I 0) )'ears of creditable service. 
3. Age 55 with thirty (30) years of creditable service. 
4. Any age with twenty-five (25) years of cred itable service, e.xclusive of military service 

and unused annual s ick leave. 

The monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member of Plan B Tier 2 shal I 
consist of an amount eq ual to two percent of the member's fina l average compensation multiplied by 
his years of creditable service. Pinal average compensation is the average monthly earnings during 
the highest sixty consecutive months, or joined months if service was interrupted. However. under 
certain conditions as outlined in the statu1es, the benefits arc limited to specified amoun1s. 

Final compensation is the employee's average salary over the 36 consecutive or joined 
mon1hs that produce 1he highest average for a mcm ber whose first employment rnade him or her 
eligible for membership in the system on or before June 30. 2006. Pinal compensa1ion is the 
employee's average salary over the 60 consecutive or joined months that produce the highest average 
for a member whose first employment made him or her eligible for membership in the system after 
June 30, 2006. Employees who tenninate with at least the amount of creditable service stated above, 
and do not withdraw their employee contributions, may retire at the ages specified above and receive 
the benefit accrued 10 their date of termination. 

Deferred Retirement Options 

In lieu of tenninating employment and accepting a service retirement allowance, any 
member of M ERS who is eligible to retire may elect to participate in the deferred retirement option 
plan (DROP) for up to three years and derer the receipt of benefits. A MERS member may 
participate in DROP only once. During participation in the plan, employer contributions are payable 
but employee contributions cease. The monthly retirement benefits 1hat would be payable, had the 
person elected to cease employment, are credited to the MERS member's individual DROP account. 
Interest is earned when the member has completed DROP panicipation. Upon tennination of 
employment prior to or al 1he end of the participation period, the member may receive a lump sum 
from the accoun1, or a true annuity based on the account balance. If employment is not terminated al 
the end of 1he lhree year DROP panicipation period, payments into the DROP account cease and the 
person resumes active contributing membership in MERS. 

Disability Benefits 

A member of MERS Plan B is eligible to retire and receive a disability beneli1 if he or she 
has at least IO years of creditable service, is not eligible for normal retirement and has been omcially 
certified as disabled by 1he State Medical Disability Board. The monthly maximum retirement 
benefit under Plan B of MERS is the lesser of an amounl equal 10 two percent of member's final 
compensation multiplied by years of service (not less than 30% of member's final compensation) or 
an amount equal 10 what the member's nonnal retirement benefit would be based on final 
compensation at time of disability. but assuming continuous service until member's earliest nom1al 
re1ircment age. 
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Upon the death of any member of Plan B with (5) or more years of creditable service, not 
eligible for nom1al retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse as out lined in 
the statutes. 

Any member of Plan B who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death and who leaves 
a surviving spouse will be deemed to have retired and selected Option 2 benefits on behal f of the 
surviving spouse on the date of death. Such benefits will begin only upon proper application and are 
paid in lieu of any other survivor benefits. 

Cost of Living Increases 

The System is authorized under state law to grant a cost of living increase to members who 
have been retired for at least one year. The adjustment cannot exceed 2% of the retiree's original 
benefit for each full calendar year since retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are 
available from investment income in excess of nonnal requirements. State law allows the System to 
grant additional cost of living increases lo all retirees and beneficiaries who are age sixty-fi ve and 
above equal to 2% of the benefit being received on October I, 1977, or the origina l benefit, if 
retirement commenced after that dale. 

Contributions: 

The M ERS employer contribution rates are esrnblished annually under La R.S 11: IO 1-
11: 104 by the Public Retirement Systems' Actuarial Commit1ee (PRSAC), taking into consideration 
1he recommendation of the system's actuary. For the year ending June 30, 2023 the employer 
contribution rate for MERS Plan B was 15.5%. Employer contributions to MERS was $53,226, for 
the year ended June 30, 2023. Employees participating in MEl{S are required to contribute 5.00%. 

Contributions received by a pension plan from non-employer contributing ent it ies that are 
not in a specia l funding situation are recorded as revenue by the respective pension plan. MERS 
receives ad valorem taxes and stale revenue sharing funds. The Town of Leonville recognizes 
revenue in an amount equal to its proportionate share of the total contributions to lhe pension plan 
from these non-employer contributing entities. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Town of 
Leonville recognized revenue as a result of support received from non-employer contributing entities 
of$12,579 for its participation in MERS. 

Pension Liabilities. Pension Expense. and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions: 

At June 30, 2023, the Town of Leonville repo11ed a liability for MERS of $380,040, for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liabili ty. ll1e net pension liabil i1ics were measured as of June 
30, 2022, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liability were determined by 
actuarial valuations as of that date. The Town of Leonville's proportion of the net pension liability for 
the retirement system was based on a projection of the Town of Leonville's long-term share of 
contributions lo the pension plan relative 10 the projected contributions of all participating employers, 
actuarially detcm1 ined. At June 30, 2022. the Town of Leonville's proponion for MERS was 
0.432855%. This reflects a decrease for MERS 0.00465% from its proportion measured as of June 
30, 2021. 
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For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Town of Leonville recognized pension expense, for 
which there were no forfeitures , as follows: 

MERS 
Pension Expense 
$ 2).903 

Net Pension Liability 
$ 380,040 

At June JO. 2022. the Town or Leonville reponed deferred ou1nows of resources and 
deferred inOows or resources related 10 pensions rrom the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
of Resources of Resources 

Differences between expected 
and actual experience $ $ (4,835) 

Changes in assumptions 4 ,064 

Net difference between projected 
and actual earnings on pension 
plan investments 69.893 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions (5.527) 

Employer contribul ions subsequent 
to measurement dale 53,226 
Total $ 127,183 $ { I 0,362~ 

During the year ended June 30, 2023, employer contributions totaling $53,226 were made 
subsequent 10 the measurement date for MER S. These contributions are rcponed as deferred out nows of 
resources and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. 
Other amounts reponed as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30: 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
Total 

Actuarial Assumptions 

MERS 
$ 9,756 

12510 
7,535 

31,348 
$ 61,149 

The net pension liability was measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit 
payments to be provided through the pension plan to current active and inactive employees that is 
attributed to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position. 
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The components of the net pension liability or MERS employers as of June JO. 2023 are as 
follows: 

Total Pension Liability 
Plan Fiduciary Net Posilion 

Total Net Pension Liability 

2023 
MERS Plan B 
$ l.248,305 

(868,265) 
$ 380,040 

2022 
MERS Plan 0 
$ 1,214,79) 

(961 ,341} 
$ 253,450 

Plan Fidiciary Net Post ion % o f Total Pension Liability 69.56% 79.14% 

The Town of Leonville's allocation is 0.432855% of the Total Net Pension Liabilily for MERS. 

The 101al pension liabili1ies for MERS in 1he June 30, 2022 actuarial valuations were 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 

MERS 
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal 

expected remaining service lives 3 years for Plan B 

Investment rate ofretum 

Inflation rate 

Projected salary increases 
1 to 4 years of service 
more than 4 years of service 

Annuitant and 
beneficiary mortality 

Employee mortality 

Disabled lives mortality 

6.850%, net of investment expense 

2.500% 

7.40% 
4.90% 

PubG-20 I 0(0) Healthy Retiree Table set equal to 
120% for males and females, each adjusted using 
their respective male and female MP2018 scales. 

PubG-20 I 0(B) Employee Table set equal to 
120% for males and females, each adjusted using 
their respective male and female M P20I8 scales. 

PubNS-20 I 0(B) Disabled Retiree Table set equal 
to 120% for males and females with the full 
generational MP2018 sct1le. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block rnethod in which best- estimates ranges of expected future real rates of retum (expected 
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation and an 
adjustment for the effect of rcbalancing/diversiricc1tion. The resulting expected long-tenn rate of return for 
MERS is 6.850% for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
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Be.st estimates of arithmetic real mies of return for each major asset class included in the target 
asset allocation for MERS as of June 30, 2022 are summarized in the fo llowing table: 

Asset Class 
Equity 
Fixed Income 
Alternatives 

Total 
Inflation 
Expected Nominal Return 

Discount Rates 

Target Allocations 
53% 
J8% 
9% 

100% 

Long-Tem1 Expected 
Real Rate of Retum 

2.3 )% 

1.65% 

0.39% 

4 .. 15% 

2.60% 

~ 

The discount rate used lo measure the total pension liability for MERS was 6 .850%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members 
will be made at the current con1ribu1ion rates and that contributions from participating employers will be 
made at the actuarially determined rates approved by J>ERSAC taking into consideration the 
recommendation of the actuary. Based on !hose assumptions, the net position of M ERS was projected to be 
avai I able to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied 10 all periods of projected benefi t 
payments to detennine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the Employer's Proportionate Slrnre of lhe Net Pension Liabilitv to Changes in the Discount 
Rates 

The fo llowing table presents the Town of Leonville's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability using lhe discount rate of 6.850% for MERS, as well as what 1he Town's proportionate share of the 
net pension liabil ity would be if ii were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower 
{5.850% for MERS} or one percenlage-poinl higher (7.850% lor MERS) than the current rate: 

M ERS 

Changes in Pension Liabili1y 

1% 

Decrease 
$ 518,066 

Current 
Discount Rate 
$ 380,040 

1% 
Increase 

$ 263,302 

The changes in the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2022 were recognized in the 
cum::nt reporting period except as follows: 

Differences beiween Expecled and Actual Experience· 

The differences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic 
factors in the measurement of the total pension liabil ity were recognized as pension benefit using the 
straight-line amortization method over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remain ing 
service lives of all employees 1ha< are provided with pensions through 1he pension plan. The difference 
between expected and actual experience resuhed in a deferred in llows of resources as of June 30, 2022 in 
the amount of $4,835. 
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Differences he/Ween f'rojected and II ct11al lnves1111ent Earnings: 

The differences between projected and actual investment earnings on pension plan investments 
were recognized in pension expense using the straight-line mnortirution method over a closed five-year 
period. The difference between projected and actual investment earnings resulted in a deferred outflow of 
resources as of June 30, 2022 in the amount of$69,893. 

Changes in f'ropvrlion: 

Changes in the employer's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability and collective 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources since the prior measurement date were 
recognized in employer's pension expense (benefit) using the straigh1-line amortization method over a 
closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of al! employees that arc 
provided pensions through the pension plan 

Contributions - Proportionate Share 

Differences between contributions remined to the System and the employer's proportionate share 
are recognized in pension expense (benefit) using the straight-line amortization method over a closed 
period equal 10 the average of the expected remaining, service lives of all employees that are provided with 
a pension through the pension plan. 

Municipal Police Emplovees' Retirement System 

Plan Description 

The Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System is the adminis1rator of a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer plan. Membership in the System is mandatory for any full-lime police officer employed 
by a municipality of the State of Louisiana and engaged in law enforcement, empowered 10 make arrests. 
providing he or she does not have to pay social security and providing, he or she meets the statutory criteria. 
The System provides retirement benefits for municipal police officers. The projections of benefit payments 
in the calculation of the 1otal pension liability includes all benefits to be provided to currcnl active and 
inactive employees through the System in accordance with benefil tenns and any additional legal 
agreements 10 provide benefits that are in force at the measurement date. 

!3enefit provisions are authorized wi1hin Act 189 of 1973 and amended by LRS 11 :221111 :2233. 
The following is a brief description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general in formation 
purposes only. Participants should refer 10 the appropriate statutes for more complece information. 

Membership Prior to January I, 2013 

A member is eligible for regular re1irerncnl after he has been a member of the System and has 25 
years or creditable service at any age or has 20 years of creditable service and is age 50 or has 12 years 
creditable service and is age 55. A member is eligible for early retirement after he has been a member of 
the System for 20 years of creditable service at any age with an actuarially reduced benefit. 

Benefit rates are three and one-third perccnl of average final compensation (average monthly 
earnings during the highes1 36 consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number 
of years of creditable service not lo exceed I 00% of final salary. 

Upon the death of an acti vc contributing member, or disability retiree. the plan provides for 
surviving spouses and minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statutes, the benefits range 
from forty to sixty percent of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In 
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addition, each ch ild under age eighteen re.ceives benefits equal to ten percent of the member's average final 
compensation or $200.00 per month, wh ichever is greater. 

Membership Commencing, January 1. 201 3 

Member eligibility for regular retirement, early retirement, disability and survivor benefits are 
based on Hazardous Duty and Non Hazardous Duty sub plans. Under the Hazardous Duty sub plan, a 
member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a member of the System and has 25 years of 
credi1able service at any age or has 12 years of creditable service at age 55. Under the Non Hauirdous Duty 
sub plan, a member is eligible for regular retirement aft er he has been a member of the System and has JO 
years of creditable service at any age, 25 years of creditable service at age 55, or 10 years of creditable 
service at age 60. Under both sub plans, a member is eligible for early retirement after he has been a 
member of the System for 20 years of creditable service at any age, with an actuarially reduced benefit 
from age 55. 

Under the Hazardous and Non Hazardous Duty sub plans, the benefit rates are three percent and 
two and a half percent, respectively. of average final compensation (average monthly earnings during the 
highest 60 consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of 
creditable service not to exceed 100% of final salary. 

Upon death of an acti ve contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides for 
surviving spouses and minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statues. the benefits range 
from twenty-five lo fi Ry-five percent of the member 's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. 
In addition, each child under age eighteen receives ten percent of average final compensat ion or $200 per 
month whichever is greater. Ir deceased member had less than ten years of service, beneficiary will receive 
a refund of employee contributions on ly. 

Cost of Living, Adjustments 

The Board of Trustees is authorized to provide annual cost-of-living adjustments computed on 
the amount of the current regular retirement. disability, beneficiary or survivor's benefit, not to exceed 3% 
in any given year. The Board is authorized 10 provide an additional 2% COLA, computed on the member's 
original benefit , to all regular retirees, disability, survivors and beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or 
older on the cut-off dale wh ich determines eligibility. 

No regular retiree, surv ivor or beneficiary shall be eligible to receive a cost-of-living adj ustment 
until benefits have been received at least one ful I fiscal year and the payment of such COLA, when 
authori1.ed, shall not be effective until the lapse of at least one-half of the fiscal year. 

Members who elect early retirement are not eligible for a cost of living adjustment until they 
reach regular retirement age. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan 

A member is eligible to elect to enter the deferred retirement option plan (DROP) when he is 
eligible for regular retirement based on the members' sub plan parlicipmion. Upon filing the application for 
the program, the employee's active membership in the System is tenninated. Al the entry dale into the 
DROP, the employee and employer con1ributions cease. The amount to be deposited into lhe DROP 
account is equal to the benefit computed under the retirement plan elected by the participant at date of 
application. The duration of participation in the DROP is thirty-six months or less. lf employment is 
tenninated after the three-year period, the participant may receive his benefits by lump sum payment or a 
true annuity. lf employment is not tenninated, active contributing membership into the System shall resume 
and upon later tennination, he shall receive additional retirement benefit based on the additional service. 
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For those eligible to enter DROP prior to January I, 2004, DROP accounts shall cam interest subsequent to 
the termination of DROP participation at a rate of half of one percentage point below the percentage rate of 
return of the System's investment portfolio as certified by the actuary on an annual basis but wi ll never lose 
money. For those eligible to enter DROP subsequent to January I, 2004, an irrevocable election is made to 
earn interest based on the System's investment portfolio re turn or a money market investment return. This 
could resu It in a negative earnings rate being applied to the account. 

If the member elects a money market investmem return, the funds are transferred to a 
government money market account. 

Initial Benefit Option Plan 

In 1999, the State Legislature authorized the System to establish an Initial Benefit Option 
program. Initial Benefit Option is avai lable to members who are eligible for regular retirement and have not 
participated in DROP. The Initial Benefit Option program provides both a one-time single sum payment of 
up 10 36 months of regular monthly retirement benefit, plus a reduced monthly retirement benefit for life. 
Interest is computed on the balance based on same criteria as DROP. 

Funding Policy - State statute requires covered employees to contribute I 0.00 percent of their 
salaries to the system. The Town is required to contribute 32.25 percent of covered employees' salaries. As 
provided by Louisiana Revised Statute 11: 103, the employer contributions are determ ined by actuarial 
va luation and are subject to change each year based on the result$ of the evaluation for the prior fi scal year. 

The Town's contributions to the System ror the year ended June 30, 2023 was $30,0 I 5, equal to 
the required con1ributions for the year. 

The System issues an annual publicly avai lable fi nancial report that includes financial 
statements and requ ired supplementary infonnation for the System. That report may be obtained by writing 
10 the Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System, 8401 United Plaza Blvd., Baton Rouge, Louisiana 
70809-701 7, or by calling (225)929-74 11. 

Pension Liabilit ies. Pension Expense. and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2023, the Town reported a liability of$280,369 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for the MPERS plan. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and the 
total pension liability used to calcu late the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as 
of that date. The Town's proportion of the net pension liabi lity was based on a projection of the Town's 
long-term share of contributions 10 the MPEK.S pension plan relative to tht: projected contributions of all 
participating employers. actuarially detennined. At June 30. 2023, the Town's proportion wa~ 0.027455%, 
which was an increase of0.009516% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2023 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Town recogni zed pension expense of$75,360. 

Non-employer contributions 

The System also receives insurance premium tax monies as addi1ional employer contributions. 
The ta)>; is considered support from a non-contributing entity and appropriated by the legislature each year 
based on an actuarial study. Non-employer contributions are recognized as revenue. The Town recognized 
$6, I 07 of non-employer contribution revenue. 
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At June 30, 2023, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions rrom the following sources: 

Defeffed Out t1ows 
of Resources 

Deferred Jn nows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected 
and actual experience 

Changes in assumptions 
Net difference between projected 

and actual earnings on pension 
plan investments 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer conlribut ions and 
proportionate share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent 
to measurement date 
Total $ 

1,384 
IJ,680 

50,103 

53,851 

30,015 
145.033 

$ 

$ 

(2,287) 
(2,087) 

(23,500) 

(27,874) 

The Town reported a total of $30.015 as deferred outflow of resources related to pension 
contributions made subsequent to the measurement period of June 30, 2022 which will be recognized as a 
reduction in net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized as an increase (decrease) in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30: 
2023 
2024 

2025 
2026 
Total 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

MPERS 
$ (17.963) 

(2 1,416) 
(21.15 1) 
(26,278) 

$ (86,808) 

The net pension liability was measured as the portion of lhe present value of projected benefit 
payments 10 be provided through the pension plan to current .ictive and inaciive employees tha1 is allributed 
to those employees' past periods of service, less the amount of the pension plan's fiduciary net position. 

The componenls of the net pension liability of the Town as of June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

Total Pension Liability 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Total Collective Net Pension Liability 

Plan Fidiciary Net Postion % of Total Pension Liability 
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2023 
$ 96 1.06 1 

(680,422) 
$ 280.639 

70.80% 

2022 
$ 600,962 

(504,437) 
S 96.525 

84.49% 
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The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 valuation were based on the assumptions 
used in the June 30, 2022 actuaria I funding valuation, and were based on the resuhs of an actuarial 
experience s\Udy for the period July I, 2009 - June 30, 201 4. In cases where bene111 structures were 
changed alter the study period, assumptions were based c.>n estimates of future experience. 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in detem1ining the total pension 
liability as of June JO, 2022 are as follows: 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial cost method 

Expected remaining 
service lives 

Investment rate ofretum 

Inflation rate 

Salary increases, 
including inflation and merit 

Mortality 

Cost-of-Living Adjustments 

June 30. 2022 

Entry Age Nonnal Cost 

20 19 - 4 years 
20 I 8 - 4 years 
201 7 • 4 years 
2016 - 4 years 

6.750%, net of investment expense 

2 .500% 

YcMs of Service 
1-2 

3-23 

Salary Growth Rate 
12.30% 
4.70% 

RP-2000 Combined Healthy with Slue Collar 
Adjustment Sex Distinct Tables projected to 
2029 by Scale AA (set back l year for females) 
for heahhy annuitants and beneficiaries. 

RP-2000 Disabled Lives Table set back 5 years 
for males and set back 3 years for females for 
disabled annuitants. 

RP-2000 Employee Table set back 4 years for 
males and 3 years for females for active members. 

The present value of future rel irernent benefits is 
based on benefits currently being paid by the 
System and includes previously granted 
cost-of-living increases. The present values do 
not include provisions for potential future 
increases not yet au!horiz.ed by the Board or 
Trustees. 

The mortaliry rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study perfonned by the 
prior actuary on plan data for the period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014 and review of similar law 
enforcement rnonality. The data was assigned credibility weighting and combined with a standard table to 
produce current levels of monality. This mortality was then projected forward to a period equivalent to the 
estimated duration of the System's liabilities. Annuity values calculated bused on this mortality were 
compared to those produced by using a set-back of standard tables. The result of the procedure indicated 
that the tables used would produce liability values approximating 1he appropriace generational mortal iry 
tables. 
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TOWN OF LEONVI LLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

The best estimates of the arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class included 
in the System 's target allocation as of June 30, 2022 are summari7..ed in the following table: 

Target Asset 
Long-Term Expected 

1'011 folio Real Rate 
ofRetum Asset Class 

Equity 
Fixed Income 
Alternative 
Totals 

Inflation 
Expected Nominal Return 

Allocation 
55.50% 
30.50% 
14.00% 
100% 

3.60% 
0.85% 
0.95% 
5.40% 

2.66% 
8.06% 

The discount rate used to measure the tOtal pension liability was 6.750%. The projection of cash 
flows used to detennine the discouni rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at 
the current contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the 
actuarially determined rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of the 
System's actuary. Based on those assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of currcn1 plan members. Therefore. the long-tenn 
expected rate of relu m on pension plan investments was appl ied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to detennine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate 

The following prcsen1s 1he net pension liabilily of the parlicipaling employers calculated using 
the discount rate of 6.750%, as well as what the employers' net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower 5.750% or one percentage point higher 
7.750% than the current rate as of June 30. 2022. 

Ne1 Pension Liability 

Change in Net Pension Liabilily 

1% 
Decrease 
5.75% 

$ 392,841 

Current 
Discount Rate 

6.75% 
$ 280,639 

1% 
Increase 
7.75% 

$ 186,913 

The changes in the ne1 pension liability for the year ended June JO, 2022 were recognized in the 
currenl reporting period as pension expense except as follows: 

D,jfi:rences hetwee11 Expected and Ac-11iaf Experience. 

The differences between expected and aclual experience with regard to economic or 
demographic factors in the measurement of the total pension liability were recognized as pension expense 
us ing the straight-line amortiza1ion method over a dosed period equal to the average of the expected 
remaining service lives of all employees that are provided wirh pensions through the pension plan. The 
difference between cxpcc1ed and aclual experience resulted in deferred inflows of resources as of June 30, 
2022 in !he amount of$2,287. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Fi nancial Statements (Continued) 

Diflttrences be/ween Prujec1ed and Ac/Ual !11ve.1111wnt Eorning.1. 

The dirferenccs between projected and actual investmcm earnings on pension plan invesnnents 
were recognized in pension expense using the straight-line amortization method over a closed five-year 

period. The difference between projected and actual investment earnings resulted in a deferred inflow of 
resources as of June 30, 2022 in the amount of $0. 

Changes of Assumptions or Other Inputs: 

The changes of assumptions about future economic or demographic factors were recognized in 
pension expense using the straight-line amortization method over a closed period equal to the average of 
the expected remaining service lives of all employees 1hat are provided with pensions through the pension 
plan. The changes of assumptions or other inputs resulted in deferred outOows of resources and deferred 
in nows of resources as of June 30, 2022 in the amounts of: 

Deferred Def en-eel 
Outflows Inflows 

2019 $ 2.204 $ 

2020 4,092 
2021 12,650 
2022 9,680 2,087 

Change in Proportion: 

Changes in the employer's proportionate shares of the collective ne1 pension liability and 
collective deferred outOows of resources and deferred in0ows of resources since the prior measurement 
date were recognized in employer's pension expense (benefit) using the straight-line amonization me1hod 
over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are 
provided pensions through the pension plan . 

Contributions - Proportionate Share 

DifTerences between contributions remitted to the System and the employer's proportionate share are 
recognized in pension expense (benefit) using the straight line amortization method over a closed period 
equal to the average of the expected remaining service li ves of all employees that are provided with a 
pension thr? ugh the pension plan. 

(8) ~npensation ofTown Officials 

A detail of compensation paid 10 the mayor and Board of Aldennan for the year ended June 30. 
2023, fol lows: 

Nicholas Degueyter, Mayor 
Kerry Willingham 
Brandon C. Herpin 
Kirk Stelly 
Bernita Kennerson 
Billy Lanclos 
A1mmda 1-lerpin 
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12,000 
J,600 
2.400 
3.600 
3,600 
3.600 
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(9) 

( I 0) 

( 11 ) 

Federally Assisted Funds 

TOWN or LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Notes to Financial Statements (Con1inued) 

The Town part icipated in federally assisted programs. These programs are audited in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards. 

Concentration of Risks 

Concentration of risks with respect to the Town is subject to the conditions of the Jim ited 
geographical area of the town . 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial slatements in confom1i1y with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions thal affect the reported amount of 
assets and liabi Ii ties and disclosure of conlingent assets and liabi Ii ties at the date of the financia l statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

( 12) lnterfund Activities 

Transfers to/from other funds at June 30, 2023. consist of1he following: 

From the Utility Fund to the Ge neral Fund for operations 

To1al 

139,884 

139,884 

ln general, transfers are used to (I) move revenues from the fund that collects the money 10 the 
fund that expends the money, (2) move receipts restricted or cannarked for debt services from the funds 
collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use 
unrestric1ed revenues collected in a fund to provide operating advances to other funds in accordance with 
budgetary authorizations. 

( 13) On-Behalf Payments 

( 14) 

()5) 

The Town received on-behalf paymen1s from the State of Louisiana, in the amount of $12,000, in 
the fonn of police supplemental pay. 

Evaluation of Subsequent Events 

The Town has evaluated subsequent events through November 14. 2023, the date which the 
financial statements were available to be issued. 

Accounting Pronouncements 

GASB Statement No. IO I, Compensated Absences - This Statement is 10 better meet the 
infonnation needs of financial s1a1emen1 users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for 
compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance 
under a unilied model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. The requirements of this 
Statement are effective for fiscal years beginn ing after December 15, 2023. 

42 



REQUJRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

43 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
General fund 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance -
Budsct f7avorable 

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable) 

Revenues: 
Licenses and pennies $ 35.100 $ 30,209 $ 35,341 s 5,132 
franchise fees 77,200 85,029 85,489 460 
Fines and forfeits 23,000 20,719 20,535 ( l 84) 
Intergovernmental 55,425 385.586 446,738 61,)52 
Miscellaneous 4,402 6,328 7,131 803 

Total revenues 195,127 527,871 595,234 671363 
Expenditures: 
Current -

General government 82,888 77,291 109,60 1 (32,3 I 0) 

Public safety: 
Police 205,400 20 1.429 214,807 ( I 3,378) 

Streets and drainage 14,700 26,034 24,539 1,495 

Capital outlay 326,847 399,444 {721597) 
Total expenditures 302,988 631,601 748,391 (116.,790) 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over 
expenditures ( l 07 ,86 l) ( l 03, 730) (153 , 157) (49,427) 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Operating transfers in 78,000 78,000 I 39,884 6 1,884 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) 78,000 78,000 139,884 61,884 

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues and other 
sources over expenditures 
and othe.r uses (29,861) (25,730) (13,273) 12,457 

Fund balances, beginning 125,930 125,930 89,032 (36,898) 

Fund balances, ending $ 96,069 $ I 00,200 $ 75,759 $ (24,44 1) 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
General Fund 

0udgetary Comparison Schedule of Rcveuues 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Variance-
Budget Favorable 

Origina l Final Actual (Unfavorable) 

Licenses and pennits $ 3.5, 100 $ 30.209 $ 35,341 $ 5,132 

Franchise fees 77,200 85,029 85,489 460 

Fines and forfeits 23,000 20,719 20,535 ( 184) 

Int ergovemm enta I: 
State of Louisiana -

Beer tax 1,700 I ,(i44 1,434 (210) 
Casino tax 30.500 28.435 26.736 (l ,699) 
On behalr payments 12,000 18,900 12.000 (6,900) 

Grant revenue 4.000 329,347 399,308 69.961 
Local Govem1enls -

Payments in lieu o f taxes 2,250 2,285 2,285 
Sewer District Ii l 4,975 4,9 75 4,975 

Tota\ intergovernmental 55,425 385.586 446,738 6 l.152 

M isccl lancous 4,402 6,328 7, 13 1 803 

Total revenues $ 195, 127 $ 527,871 $ 595,234 $ 67,363 

See Notes to Required Supplementary lnfonnation. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUIS IANA 
General Fund 

Budgelary Comparison Schedule of Expendi1ures 
Year Ended June 30. 2023 

Variance -
Budget Favorable 

Ori_sinal Final Actual (Unfavorable) 

General govemmenl: 
Salaries $ n.ooo $ 31,703 $ 58,025 $ (26.322) 
Payroll taxes 5,600 5,480 5.263 217 
Retirement and employee benelits 48 58 3,875 (3,817) 

Accounting 5,400 5, 195 5,195 
Advertising 750 395 395 
Due and subscriptions 400 
Utilicies 3,500 3,976 3,744 232 

Insurance 13,000 IJ,966 10,720 3.246 
Supplies 3.750 1.682 1,994 (312) 

Telephone 3.800 2,323 2,322 1 

M isce I laneous 14,640 12.513 18,068 (5.555) 
Total general government 82,888 77,291 109,601 (32,31 O} 

Public safery: 
Police department -
Salaries 125,000 122,006 133,165 ( 11.159) 
Payro II taxes 4,300 3,797 3.823 (26) 
Retirement and employee benefits 27,400 30,426 36.830 (6,404) 
Automobile e)(pense 25,000 22,852 20,095 2.757 
Supplies 2,000 GOO 550 50 
Uniforms 700 1,120 I, 120 
Insurance 14.000 11.402 13.787 (2,385) 
Miscellaneous 7.000 C),226 5,437 3,789 

Tolal police department 205,400 20 1,429 214,807 (13,378) 

Streets and drainage: 
Streec materia ls 700 8,026 6,390 1,636 
Street lighting 1:i,000 \4,948 14,764 l84 
Miscellaneous 1,000 3,060 3,385 p25) 

l"otal streets and drainage 14,700 26,034 24,539 1,495 

Capital outlay: 
Equipment & buildings 326,847 399,444 (72,597) 

Total expenditures $ 302,988 $ 631,601 $ 748,39 1 $ (116,790) 

See Notes to Required Supplementary lnfonnation. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Employer' s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

YearEndedJunel0,2023 

Proportion ate 
Share of the 

Employer Employer Net Pension 
Proportionate Proportionate Liability Plan Fiduciary 
Share of the Share o fthe (Asset) as a Net Pos·ition 
Net Pens ion Net Pension Percentage of as a Percentage 

Fiscal Liability Liability Covered It's Covered of the Total 
Year (Asset) (Asset2 Pal'.roll Pal'.roll Pension Liabil ity 

MERS 2015 0.592369 $ 238,144 $ 401,884 54.26% 76.94% 
MERS 20!6 0.619489 421,034 429,84 l 97.95% 68.71% 
MERS 2017 0.584307 484J37 429,929 112.66% 63.33% 
MERS 201 8 0.605243 523,676 449.245 138.83% 63.49%, 
MERS 2019 0.617622 522.404 457,705 114.14% 65.60% 
MERS 2020 0.580696 508,00 I 443,921 ll4.44% 66.14% 
MERS 202 ) 0.458975 415,935 321,271 129.47% 66.14% 
MERS 2022 0.437505 349,975 336,232 104.09% 79.14% 
MERS 2023 0.432855 380,040 348,000 109.21% 69.56% 

MPERS 2015 0.03866 $ 278,115 $ }27.883 217.47% 75.10% 
MPERS 2016 0.028543 223.605 76,349 292.87% 70.73% 
MPERS 2017 0.025343 237,535 81,525 291.36% 66.04% 
MPERS 201 8 0.0?-6915 234,979 80,349 292.45% 7008% 
MPERS 2019 0.024153 204,191 71,278 286.47% 71.88% 
MPERS 2020 0.024385 221,457 76,151 290.81% 71.13% 
MPERS 2021 0.022752 210.,782 70.273 299.95% 70.86% 
MPERS 2022 0.017939 96.525 54,728 176.37% 84.49% 
MPERS 2023 0.027455 280,639 84,756 331.11% 70.80% 

The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year end. 

This schedule is intended to show information for IO years. Additional years will be displayed as they become 
available. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary lnfonnation. 

47 



Fiscal 
Year 

MERS 2015 
MERS 2016 
MERS 2017 
MERS 2018 
MERS 2019 

MERS 2020 
MERS 2021 
MERS 2022 
MERS 2023 

MPERS 2015 
MPERS 2016 
MPERS 2017 
MPERS 2018 
MPERS 201 9 
MPERS 2020 
MPERS 2021 
MPERS 2022 
MPERS 2023 

TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Schedu le of Employer ' s Pension Contribution 

Year Ended June JO, 2023 

Contributions 
in Relation 

Contractually to Contractual Contribution 
Required Required Deficiency Covered 

Contribut ion Contribution ~E.\'Cess} Pal roll 
$ 46,620 $ 46,620 s $ 490,736 

40,782 40,782 429,290 
49,4 17 49,417 449,248 
60,646 60,646 457,662 
62,148 62,148 443,912 
49,796 49,796 355,690 
52,116 52,116 336,232 
53,939 53.939 347,996 
53,226 53,226 343,394 

$ 23,816 $ 23.816 $ $ 73,615 
20,942 20,942 70,990 
25,5 11 25,5 11 80,350 
21.918 21,918 71,278 
24,639 24,639 76,399 
24,154 24,154 74,319 
18,471 18,471 54,728 
25,215 25,215 84,757 
30,015 30,015 96,048 

Contributions 
as a Percent 
of Covered 

Payroll 

9.50% 
9.50% 
11.00% 
13.25% 
14.00% 
14.00% 
15.50% 
15.50% 
15.50% 

31.50% 
29.50% 
31.75% 
30.75% 
32.25% 
32.50% 
33.75% 
29.75% 
31.25% 

This schedule is intended 10 show infomiat ion for IO years. Additional years will be displayed as they become 
available. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary lnfonnation. 

48 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
No(es 10 Required Supplementary lnrorrnation 

Note J. Legal Compliance - Budge(s 

A. The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgelary data renectcd in these financial 
s(a(emen1s: 

I .The Mayor prepares a proposed budget and subm its same lO (he Ooard of Aldennen no la(er 1hc.1n 30 
days prior to the beginning of each fiscal year. Revenues are budgeted by source. Expenditures are 
budgeted by departmen( and class. 

2. A summary of the proposed budget is published, and the public notified that the proposed budget is 
available for public inspec(ion. At the same Lime, a public hearing is called. 

3. A public hearing is held on the proposed budget at least ten days after publication of the call for the 
hearing. 

4. Afte r the holding of the public hearing and completion of all action necessary to fina lize and 
implement the budget, the budget is adopted (hrough passage of a resolution prior to (he 
commencement of the fiscal year fo r which the budget is being adopted. 

5. Budgetary amendments involving the transfer of funds from one department, program or function 10 
another or involving increases in expenditures resulting rrom revenues exceeding amounts estimated 
require the approval or the Board of A ldennen. 

6. A 11 budg,e(ary appropriations lapse at the end of each r,scal year. 

7. Budgets for all runds are adopted on a basis consistent w ith generally accepted accounting principles 
or (he United States of America. Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as amended from time 
to time by the Board of Aldennen. The budget was amended prior to the fiscal year and June 30, 2023. 

Note 2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 

Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations. The following individual fund had actual expenditure in 
excess of appropriations for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

Budget 
Original Final 

General Fund $ 302,988 $ 631 ,60 1 
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Actual 

$ 748,39 1 

Variance -
Favorable 

(Unfavorable) 

$ (116,790) 



TOWN OF LEONV ILLE. LOUISIANA 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information (Continued) 

Note 3. Pension Plan - Changes of Assumptions 

Changes of Benellt Tenns 

For MERS and MPERS, there were no changes of benefit 1enns for the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Changes of Assumptions 

Changes of assumptions about future econorn ic or demographic factors or of other inputs were 
recognized in pension expense using the straight-line amortization method over a closed period equal 
to the average of Lhe expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with 
pensions through the pension plan. 

Municipal Employees' Retirement Svstem 
For the actuarial valuation for the year ended June 30, 2022, the discount rate was unchanged from 
6.85% 10 6.85%. 

Municipal Police Employees' Retiremenl System 
For the actuarial valuation for the year ended June 30, 2022, the discount rate was unchanged from 
6.75% to 6.75%. 
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Openning expenses: 
Salaries 
Payrol I taxes 

TOWN OF LEONV ILLE, LOUI SIANA 
Proprietary Fund 

Schedule of Operating Expenses 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Retirement and employee benefits 
Gas purchases 
Chemicals 
Insurance 
/\ccounling and audi1ing 
Engineering fees 
Office supplies 
Computer expense 
Repai rs and maintenance 
Auto expenses and travel 
Uti lities 
Telephone 
lJnifonns 
Bad <lebts 
Miscellaneous 
Depreciation 

Total operating expenses 

52 

Util ity Fun~ 

$ 342,486 
27,822 
62,470 
44.480 

118,475 
125,8!7 

17.940 
6.000 
8,698 

19,325 
157,145 
45,8 17 

117,479 
7,178 
3,945 

12,328 
65,504 

372,870 

$ 1,555,779 



COMPLIANCE, INTERNAL CONTROL 

AND 

OTHER INFORMATION 
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SHIRLEY VIGE. JR .. C.P.A 
FRANK G. TUJAGUE. C.P.A. 
DOMINIQUE M. NOEL. C,P.A. 

VIGE, TUJAGUE~ NOEL 
A CORPORATION OF CERTIFIED PU8UC ACCOUNTANTS 

151 N. 2111 STREET 
P. 0 . BOX I 006 

EUNICE, LOUISIANA 70535 
TELEPHONE 
337-457-9324 

FAX: 
337-457-8743 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 

The Honorable Nicholas Degueyter, M11yor, 
and Members of the 13oard of Alderman 
Town of Leonville, Louisiana 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financia l audits contained in Governmenl Auditing Srandard~­
issued by lhe Comptroller General of the United Slates, the financial srntements of the governmental 
activities_. th<:: business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Town of Leonville, Louisiana, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Leonville, Louisiana's basic linancial 
statements and have issued our repon thereon dated November 14, 2023. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Town of Leonville, 
Louisiana's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to dete1mine the audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opiuion 011 the effectiveness of Town of Leonville, 
Louisiana ·s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Town of 
Leonville, Loui siana's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists whcu the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies. in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deticiency, or a combination of deficienc ies. in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
sectiou and was not designed to idenli fy al I deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exis1 that were not identified. Given 1hese limitations, during our audit we d id not identify any 
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deficiencies in intemal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, materia l weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described 
in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as items #2023-00 I and #2023-002, which are 
considered to be significant deficiencies. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Town of Leonville, Louisiana's financial 
statements are free from maierial misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with cenain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance or other 
matter that is required 10 be reported under Govem111enl Audi1ing Standards and which is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses as items #2023-00 I and #2023-002. 

Town of Leonville , Louisiana's Response to Findings 

Town of Leonville, Louisiana's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedu le of findings and questioned costs. Town of Leonville. Louisiana's response was 
not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, 
we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Repo rt 

The purpose of this repon is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Guvermnenl Auditing Sumdards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Yige, Tujague & Noel, CPA's 
Eunice, Louisiana 
November 14, 2023 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 
Year Ended June J O, 2023 

We have audited the financial statements of Town of Leonville as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2023, and have issued our report thereon dated November 14, 2023. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Our audit of the financial statements as of June JO, 2023, resulted in an 
unmodified opinion. 

Section I. Summary of Auditor's Rcporls 

a. Report on Internal Control and Compl iance Material to the Financial Statements 

Internal Control 
Material Weaknesses Yes __X_ No Significant Deficiencies __X_ Yes _ No 
Compliance 
Compliance Material to Financial Statement _ Yes __X_ No 

b. Federal Awards 

None reported . 

Section II. Financial Statemenl Findings 

#2023-00 I - Segregation of Accounting Functions 

Condition: 

Criteria: 

The Town of Leonville did not have adequate segregation of funct ions within the 
accounting system. 

SAS l 09, Understanding the Entity and it~ Environment and Assessing the Risks 
of Materio! lvlissfalement. AU31 4.4J defines internal control as follows: 

''Internal Contro l is a process, affected by those charged with governance, 
management, and other personnel, designed 10 provide reasonable assurance 
about I.he achievement of objectives with regard 10 reliability of financial 
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, · and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations." 

Add itionally, Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) 
ATSO I .OJ states: 

"An entity' s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that pertain to an entity's ability to record, process, summarize, 
and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in either annual 
financia l statements or interim financial stntements, or both.'' 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Findings and Responses (continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Cause: The cause of the condition is the fact that the Town does not have a sufficient 
number of stafT performing administrative and financial duties so as to provide 
adequate segregation of accounting and financial duties. 

Effect: Failure to adequately segregate accounting and financial functions increases the 
risk that errors and/or irregularities including fraud and/or defalcations may occur 
and not be prevented and/or detected . 

Recommendat ion: Due to the size of the operation and the cost-benefit of additional personnel, it 
may not be feasible to achieve complete segregation of duties. 

Response: It is not cost effective 10 achieve complete segregation of duties within the 
accounting function . No corrective action is considered necessary. 

#2023-002 - Budget Variance 

Condition: There was a violation of the Louisiana Government Budget Act. Expenditures of 
the General Fund exceeded budgeted appropriations by an amount greater than 
5%. 

Criteria: When total actual expenditures exceed total budgeted expenditures by 53/o or 
more and/or when total revenues fail 10 meet total budgeted revenues by 5% or 
more or there has been a change in operation upon wh ich the original adopted 
budget was developed, the Town shall adopt a budget amendment 1n an open 
meeting 10 renect such a change. 

Cause: The Town did not properly amend the budget for expenditures paid out of the 
General Fund. 

Effect: Failure to properly amend the budget results in variances beyond the 5% of 
budgeted expenditures incurred. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Town make the necessat)' amendments to the budget 
prior to year end for changes in revenues and expenditures incurred. 

Response: The Town accepts and agrees with the recommendation as presented. 

Sectio II III. Summary of Other Aud it Results 

l . The auditor's repo11 expresses an unmodified opinion of the financia l statements of Town of 
Leonville, Louisiana. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE., LOUISIANA 
Status of Prior Audit r- indings 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

#2022-00 I - Segregation of Accounting Functions 

Condition: 

Criteria: 

Cause: 

The Town of Leonvi lle did not have adequate segregat ion of functions within the 
accounting system. 

SAS 109, Understanding the Entity and ifs Environment and Assessing the Risks 
of Material Misstotemenl, AUJ 14.43 defines internal control as follows: 

" Internal Control is a process, affected by those charged with governance, 
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance 
about the achievement of objectives with regard 10 reliability of financial 
reporting, effec1i veness and efficiency of opera lions, and comp I iance with 
applicable laws and regulat ions.'' 

Addi tional ly, Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) 
A TSO 1 .03 states: 

·'An ent ity' s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that pertain to an entity's abil ity to record, process, summarize, 
and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in either annual 
financial statements or interim financial statements, or both .'' 

The cause of the condition is the fact that the Town does not have a sufficien t 
number of staff performing adminisrn.itive and financia l duties so as to provide 
adequate segregation of accounting and financial duties. 

Effect : Fai lure to adequately segregate account ing and financial functions increases the 
risk that errors and/or irregu larities including fraud and/or defalcations may occur 
and not be prevented and/or detected. 

Recommendation: Due to the size of the operation and the cost-benefit of additional personnel, it 
may not be feasible to achieve complete segregation of duties. 

Response: It is not cost effective to achieve complete segregation of duties within the 
accounting funct ion. No corrective action is considered necessary. 

Status: Th is finding has been repealed. 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE. LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Mayor an<l Alderman 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Name Office and Term Compensation 

Nicholas Degucytcr Mayor $ 12,000 
P.O. Box 442 December 31 . 2026 
Leonville , LA 7055 l 
337-879-7026 

Kerry Willingham Aldem1an 3.600 
P.O. Box 162 December 3 I. 2026 
Leonville, LA 70551 
337-879-2287 

Brandon C. He rpin Alderman 2.400 
P.O. Box 375 December 3 I, 2022 
Leonville. LA 70551 
33 7-879-9507 

Kirk Stelly Alderman 3,600 
P.O. Box 573 December 3 I, 2026 
Leonville , LA 70551 
337-879-2497 

Benita Kennerson Alderman 3,600 
P.O. Box 354 December 31 , 2026 
Leonville, LA 70551 
337-879-3236 

Amanda Herpin Aldennan 900 
P.O. Bux 152 December 3 I . 2026 
Leonvi lle, LA 70551 
337-247- 1945 

Billy Lanclos Alderman 3,600 
P.O. Box 3 13 December 3 I , 2026 
Leonville, LA 70551 
337-945-0586 

$ 29,700 
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TOWN or LEONVILLE, LOUI SIANA 
Schedule of Rates and Accounts Receivable 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

The aging of accounts receivable for the Utility Fund includes the water system, gas system and sewer system as of 
June 30, 2023 is as fo llows: 

Amounts Receivable (Water, Gas and Sewer) 

Days Amounts 

Unbilled $ 60,937 

Current $ 156.544 
30 22.3 81 

3 1-60 4,575 
6 1-90 (256) 

Over - 90 (59) 
$ 183,185 

~ Water 
Residential Users - 335 2,954 
Commercial Users - 16 33 

As of June 30, 2022 to current, the gas rates were as fol lows: 

Re~ identail -0020 

Commercial -0021 

Commercial -0022 

Res id entail Gas 

SI0.00 flat ra te includes 500 MCF's, 

$.55 per I 00 MCF's thereafte r 

Commercial Non-taxable 

$10.00 flat rate includes 500 MCF's. 

$.55 per 100 MCF's thereal1er 

Commerc ial Ta~ble 

$10.00 Ila! rate inc ludes 500 MCPs, 

$.55 per 100 MCF's thereafter 

Overage rate adjusted monthly based on cost of gas. 
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Sewer 
458 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOU ISIANA 
Schedule of Rates and Accounts Receivable (Continued) 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

As of June 30, 2022 10 current, the sewer rates were as follows (rate on aclual water usage): 

Residential -0040 

Commercial -0043 

Commercial -0044 

Commercial -0045 

Commercial -0046 

Commercial -0047 

Conunercial -0048 

Commercial -0049 

Residential 

$12.50 base rate includes 1st 2,000 gallons, 

$3.50 per 1,000 gallons thereaner 

Commercial Non-taxable 

$12.50 basl' ra1e includes Isl 2,000 gallons , 

$3.S0 per 1,000 gallons thereafter 

Residential Piggyback 2 

$25.00 base rate includes lsl 4.000 gallons . 

$3.50 per 1,000 gallons thereafter 

Commercial - Housing Authority , JO Non-taxable 

$ 125.00 base rate includes 1st 20,000 gallons 

$3.50 per 1,000 gallons therea fter 

Commercial - Housing Authority, 2 Non-taxable 

$25.00 base rate includes 1st 4,000 gallons 

$3.50 per \,000 gallons thereafter 

Low Pressure Piggyback, 2 

$25.00 base rate includes Isl 4,000 gallons 

$3.50 per 1,000 gallons thereafler 

Res idential Piggyback 3 

37.50 base ra1e includes Isl 6.000 gallons. 

$3.50 per 1.000 gallons 1hereafter 

Residential Piggyback 24 

$300.00 base rale includes ls1 20,000 gallo11s, 

$3.50 per l,000 gallons thereafter 
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TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Rates and Accounts Receivable (Continued) 

Year EndedJune30,2023 

As o f June 30, 2022 10 current, the water rates were as fo llows: 

Res idential -0010 

Commercial -0011 

Commercial -00 12 

Commercial -0013 

Commercial-0014 

Commerc ial -0016 

Commercia 1-0017 

Individual Re~ identia l 

$26.60 base rate inc ludes 1s t 2,000 gallons, 

$3.30 pe r 1.000 gallons !he rea ft e r 

Discount Commerc ia l Taxable 

$24.33 base rate includes 1st 2,000 gallons. 

$2.97 per 1.000 gallo ns 1hereafier 

Conuncrci.il Non-Taxab le 

$79.63 base rate inc ludes 1s t 25,000 gallons, 

$3.30 per 1.000 gallons thereafter 

Commercial Non-Taxable 

$26.60 base rate includes Isl 2,000 ga llo ns. 

$3.30 per 1,000 gallons th ereaft e r 

Commercial Taxable 

$79.63 base rme includes 1s t 2S.000 gallons , 

$3.30 per 1.000 gallons thereafler 

Small Bus iness Taxable 

$26.60 base rate inc ludes Is l 2.000 gallo n~, 

$3.30 per 1.000 gallons th creaf1er 

St Landry #3 Special 

$3.30 per 1,000 gallons 
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TOW'N OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Insurance 

ComR,a11_Y 
LA Municipal Risk Management 

Agency 

LWCC 

EMC Insurance 

Lloyds of London 

Hartford Fire Insurance Co. 

Hartford Steam 13oiler Co. 

Bui ld Americo Mutual 
Assurance Co. 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

~ol icy Type Pol icy Period 

General Liability 12/ 19/22 - 12/19/23 

Law Enforcement 
A utomobile Liability 

Errors and Omissions 

W orkers Compensation 0 I /0 I /23 - 01/0 I /24 

Commerc ial Property 03/25/23 - 03/25/24 

A uto Physical Damage I 2/ 1 9/22 - 12/19/23 

Employee Theft 02/25/23 - 02/25/24 

Boiler & Machinery 02/ I 3/23 - 021 13/24 

Munic ipal Bond 
I nsurance 04/28/21 - 06/30/43 
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Coverage 
$ 500,000 

500,000 
500.000 
500,000 

Legal I imits 

9,451,003 

224,897 

1,004.250 

2,638,416 

Balance o f 
bonds 



TO\VN OF LEONVILLE, LOU ISIANA 
Schedule of Compensation, Bene fits and Other Payments 

to Agency Head or Chief Executive Onicer 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Nicholas Degueyter, Mayor 
Period: 12 Months 

Salary 
Education 
Mileage 
Meals 
Telephone 
Travel 

$12,000 
435 
433 
325 
468 
707 
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TOWN O f LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 
Justice System Funding Schedule - Collecting/Disbursing Entity 
As Required by Act 87 of the 2020 Regular Legislative Session 

Cash Basis Presentation 
Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Beginn ing Balance of Amoun1s Collected (i.e. cash on hand) 

Add: Collections 
Criminal Court Costs/Fees 
Service/Collection Fees 
Subtotal Collections 

Less: Disbursements To Governments & Nonprofils: 

Louisiana Commission on Law Enforcemenc, Criminal Court Costs/Fees 
Louis iana Supreme Court, CMIS Collections 
St. Landry Parish Crime Stoppers 
Louisiana Supreme Court, Judicial College Collections 
La Dept. of Health & Hospitals, Court Costs/fees 

Less: Amounts Retained by Collecting Agency 
Self-Disbursed Town of Leonville. Criminal Court Cost/fees 

Less: Disbursements to Jndividuuls/3rd Party Collection or 
Processing Agencies 

Payments to 3rd Party Collection/Processing Agencies 

Subtotal Disbursemcnts/Reh1 inage 

Total: Ending Balance of Amou nts Collected but not 
Disbu rscd/Rclaincd (i.e. cash on hund) 
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First Six 

Month Period 
Ended 

12/31/2022 

$ 

$ 

I 0, 160 
297 

10,457 

146 
73 

146 

37 
60 

9,698 

297 

10,457 

Second Six 
Month Period 

Ended 
06/30/2023 

$ 

$ 

11.226 
333 

11.559 

174 
87 

174 
44 

125 

10,622 

333 

11 ,559 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE 
RO. 80XS7 

LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 705S1-0057 
(337) 879-260 I 

FAX (337) 879•7922 

NICHOLAS DEGUEVTER 
MAYOR 

JOSEPH NOEL Ill 
CHIEf OF POLICE 

CHRISTINE flDWELL 

CLERK 

VIGE, TUJAGUE & NOEL, CPA'S 
P. 0. BOX I 006 
_EUNICE, LA 70535 

RE: Managemcn1 Response 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

KERRY WILUNGHAM 

BENITA KENNERSON 

KIRK STELLY 

BRANDON HERPIN 

BllLY lANCLOS 

The following is our response to your rccommenda1ion we received in the Town 's Audited Financial 
Statement as of June 30, 2023. 

2023-00 I Segregation of Accounting Functions 

We are aware of and have evaluated th is inadequacy and concluded that the related costs versus 
benefits to be achieved do not justify the additional personnel it would require to establish an 
adequate segregation of duties. However, we will try to segregate duties as much as possible with 
the existing staff 

2023-002 Budget Variance 

The Town accepts and agrees with the recommendation as presented. 

ayor 

"This institution is an equal opportunity provider. " 



TOWN OF LEONVILLE, LOUISIANA 

STATEWIDE AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES REPORT 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 





SHIRLEY VIGE. JR. . C.P A 
FRANK G. TUJAGUE. C P.A. 
OOMINIOUE hi. NOEL, C.P.A 

VIGE, TUJAGUE ~ NOEL 
A CORPORATION OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

151 N. 2till STREET 
P. 0. BOX l006 

EUNICE, LOUISIANA 70535 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT 
ON APPL YING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

TELEPHONE: 
337-457·9324 

FAX: 
337-457-8743 

To the Management and Board of Commissioners of the Town or Leonvi lle, Louisiana and the 
Louisiana Legislative Audi tor: 

We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the control and compl iance (C/C) areas 
identified in the Louisiana Legislative Auditor' s (I ,LA 's) Statewide Agreed-Upon Procedures 
(SAUPs) for the fiscal period July I , 2022, through June 30, 2023. Town of Leonville, Louisiana's 
management is responsible for those CIC areas identitied in the SAUPs. 

Town of Leonville, Louisiana has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures performed are 
appropriate to meet the intended purpose of 1he engagement, which is to perform specified 
procedures on the CIC areas identified in LLA 's SA UPs for the fiscal period July 1, 2022, through 
June 30, 2023 . Additionally, LLA has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures performed 
are appropriate for its purposes. This report may not be suitable for any other purpose. The 
procedures performed may not address al! the items of interest to a user of this report and may not 
meet the needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are resr,onsible for determining whether 
the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes. 

The procedures and associated findings are as follows: 

1) Written Policies and Procedures 

1. Obtain and inspect the entity's written pol icies and procedures and observe 
whether they address each of the following categories and subcategories if 
applicable to public funds and the entity's operations: 

a) Budgeting, including preparing, adopting, monitoring, and amending 
the budget. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

b) Purchasing, including (1) how purchases are initiated, (2) how vendors 
are added to the vendor list, (3) the preparation and approval process 

ll Page 



of purchase requisitions and purchase orders, ( 4) controls to ensure 
compliance with the Public Bid Law, and (5) documentation required to 
be maintained for all bids and price quotes. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

c) Disbursements, including processing, reviewing, and approving. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

d) Receipts/Collections, including receiving, recording, and preparing 
deposits. A!so, policies and procedures should include management's 
actions to determine the completeness of all collections for each type of 
revenue or agency fund additions (e.g., periodic confirmation with 
outside parties, reconciliation to utility billing after cutoff procedures, 
reconciliation of traffic ticket number sequences, agency fund forfeiture 
monies confirmation). 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

e) Payroll/Personnel, including (1) payroll processing, (2) reviewing and 
approving time and attendance records, including leave and overtime 
worked, and (3) approval process for employee rates of pay or approval 
and maintenance of pay rate schedules. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

f} Contracting, including ( 1) types of services requiring written contracts, 
(2) standard terms and conditions, (3) legal review, (4) approval 
process, and (S) monitoring process. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

g) Travel and Expense Reimbursement, including (1) allowable 
expenses, (2) dollar thresholds by category of expense, (3) 
documentation requirements, and ( 4) required approvers. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

h) Credit Cards ( and debit cards, fuel cards, purchase cards, if 
applicable), including (1) how cards are to be controlled, (2) allowable 
business uses, (3) documentation requirements, ( 4) required approvers 
of statements, and (5) monitoring card usage (e.g., determining the 
reasonableness of fuel card purchases). 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address t he 
functions noted above. 
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i) Ethics, including (1) the prohibitions as defined in Louisiana Revised 
Statute (R.S.) 42:1111-1121, (2) actions to be taken if an ethics 
violation takes place, (3) system to monitor possible ethics violations, 
and ( 4) a requirement that documentation is maintained to demonstrate 
that al l employees and officials were notified of any changes to the 
entity's ethics policy. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

j) Debt Service, including (1) debt issuance approval, (2) continuing 
disclosure/EMMA reporting requirements, (3) debt reserve 
requirements, and ( 4) debt service requirements. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

k) Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity, 
including (1) identification of critical data and frequency of data 
backups, (2) storage of backups in a separate physical location isolated 
from the network, (3) periodic testing/verification that backups can be 
restored, ( 4) use of antivirus software on all systems, ( 5) timely 
application of all available system and software patches/updates, and 
( 6) identification of personnel, processes, and tools needed to recover 
operations after a critical event. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

I) Prevention of Sexual Harassment, including R.S. 42: 342-344 
requirements for (1) agency responsibilities and prohibitions, (2) annual 
employee training, and (3) annual reporting. 

Written policies and procedures were obtained and do address the 
functions noted above. 

2) Board or Finance Committee 

1. Obtain and inspect the board/finance committee minutes for the fiscal period, as 
well as the board 's enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or equivalent document 
in effect during the fiscal period, and 

i. Observe that the board/finance committee met with a quorum at least 
monthly, or on a frequency in accordance w ith the board 's enabling legislation, 
charter , by laws, or other equivalent document. 

Obtained and reviewed minutes of the managing board for the fiscal 
period noting that the board met monthly. 
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ii. For those entities reporting on the governmental accounting model, observe 
whether the minutes referenced or included monthly budget-to-actual 
comparisons on the general fund, quarterly budget-to-actual, at a minimum, 
on proprietary funds, and semi-annual budget- to-actual, at a minimum, on all 
special revenue funds. 

The monthly board meeting minutes did not present budget-to-actual 
comoarisons. 

iii. For governmental entities, obtain the prior year audit report and observe the 
unassigned fund balance in the general fund. If the general fund had a 
negative ending unassigned fund balance in the prior year audit report, 
observe that the minutes for at least one meeting during the fiscal period 
referenced or included a formal plan to eliminate the negative unassigned fund 
balance in the general fund. 

Obtained the prior year audit report and observed that the unassigned 
fund balance was a positive balance. 

iv. Observe whether the board/finance committee received written updates of 
the progress of resolving audit finding(s), according to management's 
corrective action plan at each meeting until the findings are considered fully 
resolved. 

There were no audit findings requiring status updates in the prior year. 

3) Bank Reconciliations 

1. Obtain a listing of entity bank accounts for the fiscal period from management 
and management's representation that the listing is complete. Ask 
management to identify the entity's main operating account. Select the 
entity's main operating account and randomly select 4 additional accounts (or 
all accounts if less than 5). Randomly select one month from the fiscal period, 
obtain and inspect the corresponding bank statement and reconciliation for 
each selected account, and observe that: 

1. Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 2 
months of the related statement closing date (e.g., initialed and dated 
or electronically logged); 

Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 
two months of the related statement closing date. 

11. Bank reconciliations include written evidence that a member of 
management or a board member who does not handle cash, post 
ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed each bank reconciliation (e.g., 
initialed and dated, electronically logged); and 
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Bank reconciliations include evidence that a member of management 
who does not handle cash. post ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed 
each reconciliation. 

iii. Management has documentation reflecting it has researched reconciling 
items that have been outstanding for more than 12 months from the 
statement closing date, if applicable. 
Bank reconciliations do not include evidence that management has 
researched items that were outstanding for more than 12 months from 
the statement closing date. 

4) Collections ( excluding electronic funds transfers) 

A. Obtain a listing of deposit sites for the fiscal period where deposits for 
cash/checks/money orders (cash ) are prepared and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select S deposit sites (or 
all deposit sites if less than 5). 

Obtained a listing of deposit sites from management and representation that 
the listing is complete. 

B. For each deposit site selected, obtain a listing of co llection locations and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 
one collection location for each deposit site (e.g., 5 co llection locations for 5 
deposit sites), obtain and inspect written policies and procedures relating to 
employee job duties (ifthere are no written policies or procedures, then inquire 
of employees about their job duties) at each collection location, and observe 
that job duties are properly segregated at each collection location such that 

i. Employees responsible for cash collections do not share cash 
drawers/registers; 

Employees responsible for cash collections do share a cash drawer; 
however, collections are reconciled at the end of the day by an employee 
who did not collect the cash. 

ii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsib le for 
preparing/making bank deposits, unless another employee/official is 
responsible for reconciling collection documentation ( e.g., pre­
numbered receipts) t o t he deposit; 

The town clerk is responsible for both the collection of cash and the 
preparation of bank deposits. The town treasurer is responsible for cash 
col lection and reconciling cash to collection documentation. 

iii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsible for 
posting collection entries to the general ledger or subsidiary ledgers, 
unless another employee/official is responsible for reconciling ledger 
postings to each other and to the deposit; and 
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The town clerk is resoonsible for collecting cash and posting collection 
entries to the genera l ledger. 

iv. The employee(s) responsible for reconcil ing cash collections to the 
general ledger and/or subsidiary ledgers, by revenue source and/or 
agency fund additions, is (are) not also responsible for collecting cash, 
unless another employee/official verifies the reconciliation. 

The employee responsible for reconciling cash collections .to the general 
ledger is responsible for collecting cash; however, the town treasurer 
verifies the reconciliation. 

C. Obtain from management a copy of the bond or insurance policy for theft 
covering all employees who have access to cash. Observe that the bond or 
insurance policy for theh was in force during the fiscal period. 

Employees who have access to cash are covered bv the bond or insurance 
policy for theft. 

D. Randomly select two deposit dates for each of the 5 bank accounts selected 
for Bank Reconciliations procedure #3A (select the next deposit date 
chronologically if no deposits were made on the dates randomly selected and 
randomly select a deposit if multiple deposits are made on the same day). 
Alternatively, the practitioner may use a source document other than bank 
statements when selecting the deposit dates for testing, such as a cash 
collection log, daily revenue report, receipt book, etc. Obtain supporting 
documentation for each of the 10 deposits and: 

i. Observe that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered. 

Observed that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered. 

i i. Trace sequentially pre-numbered receipts, system reports , and other 
related collection documentation to the deposit slip. 

Traced receipts or collection documentation to the deposit slip with no 
exceptions. 

iii. Trace the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement. 

Traced the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement 
with no exceQ.tions. 

iv. Observe that the deposit was made within one business day of receipt 
at the collection location (within one week if the depository is more than 
10 miles from the collection location or the deposit is less than $100 and 
the cash is stored securely in a locked safe or drawer). 

Observed that deposits were made within one business day of receipt at 
the collection location. 

v. Trace the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger. 
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Traced the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger 
noting no exceptions. 

5) Non-Payroll Disbursements (excluding card purchases, travel 
reimbursements, and petty cash purchases) 

1. Obtain a listing of locations that process payments for the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 
locations (or all locations if less than 5). 

Obtained a listing of locations that process payments for the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. 

2. For each location selected under procedure #SA above, obtain a listing of those 
employees involved with non-payroll purchasing and payment functions. 
Obtain written policies and procedures r-elating to employee job duties ( if the 
agency has no written pol icies and procedures, then inquire of employees 
about their job duties), and observe that job duties are properly segregated 
such that 

a) At least two employees are involved in initiating a purchase request, 
approving a purchase, and placing an order or making the purchase; 

Observed that job duties are properly segregated regarding the 
functions noted above. 

b) At least two employees are involved in processing and approving 
payments to vendors; 

Observed that job duties are groperly segregated regarding the 
functions noted above. 

c) The employee responsible for processing payments is prohibited from 
adding/modifying vendor files, unless another employee is responsible 
for periodically reviewing changes to vendor files; 

Obtained written policies and procedures and observed that job duties 
are properly segregated regarding t he functions noted above . 

d) Either the employee/official responsi ble for signing checks mails the 
payment or gives the signed checks to an employee to mail who is not 
responsib le for processing payments; and 

Obtained written policies and procedures and observed that i ob duties 
are properly segregated regarding the functions noted above. 

e) Only employees/officials authorized to sign checks approve the 
electronic disbursement (release) of funds, whether through automated 
clearinghouse (ACH),· electronic funds transfer (EFT), wire transfer, or 
some other electronic means. 
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The employee/official authorized to sign checks also approves the 
electronic release of funds. 

3. For each location selected under procedure #SA above, obtain the entity's non­
payroll disbursement transaction population (excluding cards and travel 
reimbursements) and obtain management's representation that the population 
is complete. Randomly select 5 disbursements for each location, obtain 
supporting documentation for each transaction, and 

i. Observe whether the disbursement, whether by paper or electronic 
means, matched the related original itemized invoice and supporting 
documentation indicates that deliverables included on the invoice were 
received by the entity, and 

Observed that the disbursements matched the related or iginal itemized 
invoice and the supporting documentation indicates deliverables 
included on the invoice were received. 

ii. Observe whether the disbursement documentation included evidence 
( e.g., initial/date, electronic logging) of segregation of duties tested 
under procedure #SB above, as applicable. 

Observed that the disbursement document ation included evidence of 
segregation of duties tested. 

4. Using the entity's main operating account and the month selected in Bank 
Reconciliations procedure #3A, randomly select 5 non-payroll-related 
electronic disbursements ( or all electronic disbursements if less than 5) and 
observe that each electronic disbursement was (a) approved by only those 
persons authorized to disburse funds ( e.g., sign checks) per the entity's policy, 
and (b) approved by the required number of authorized signers per the entity's 
policy. Note: If no electronic payments were made from the main operating 
account dur ing the month selected the practitioner should select an alternative 
month and/or account for testing that does include electronic disbursements. 

Electronic disbursements were approved by those persons authorized and 
required to disburse funds. 

6) Credit Cards/Debit Cards/Fuel Cards/Purchase Cards (Cards) 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all active credit cards, bank debit cards, 
fuel cards, and purchase cards (cards) for the Fiscal period, including the card 
numbers and the names of the persons who maintained possession of the 
cards. Obtain management's representation that the listing is complete. 

Obtained a listing of all active credit cards and management's 
representation that the listing is complete. 
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B. Using the listing prepared by management, randomly select 5 cards (or all 
cards if less than 5) that were used during the fiscal period. Randomly select 
one monthly statement or combined statement for each card (for a debit card, 
randomly select one monthly bank statement). Obtain supporting 
documentation, and 

a) Observe whether there is evidence that the monthly statement or 
combined statement and supporting documentation (e.g., original 
receipts for credit/debit card purchases, exception reports for excessive 
fuel card usage) were reviewed and approved, in writing ( or 
electronically approved) by someone other than the authorized card 
holder (those instances requiring such approval that may constrain the 
legal authority of certain public officials, such as the mayor of a 
Lawrason Act municipal ity, should not be reported); and 

b) 

No exceptions noted. 

Observe that finance charges and late fees were not assessed on the 
selected statements. 
No finance charges were assessed on the selected statements. 

C. Using the monthly statements or combined statements selected under 
procedure #6B above, excluding fuel cards, randomly select 10 transactions 
(or all transactions if less than 10) from each statement, and obtain supporting 
documentation for the transactions (e.g., each card should have 10 
transactions subject to inspection). For each transaction, observe that it is 
supported by ( 1) an original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was 
purchased, (2) written documentation of the business/public purpose, and (3) 
documentation of the individuals participating in meals (for meal charges 
only). For missing receipts, the practitioner should describe the nature of the 
transaction and observe whether management had a compensating control to 
address missing receipts, such as a "missing receipt statement" that is subject 
to increased scrutiny. 

No exceptions noted. 

7) Travel and Travel-Relilted Expense Reimbursements (excluding card 
transactions) 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all travel and travel-related expense 
reimbursements during the fiscal period and management's representation 
that the listing or general ledger is complete. Randomly select 5 
reimbursements and obtain the related expense reimbursement forms/prepaid 
expense documentation of each selected reimbursement, as well as the 
supporting documentation. For each of the 5 reimbursements selected 
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i. If reimbursed using a per diem, observe that the approved reimbursement 
rate is no more than those rates established either by the State of 
Louisiana or the U.S. General Services Administration (www.gsa.gov); 

Observed that approved reimbursement rates were not more than those 
establishments by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. General Services 
Administration. 

ii. If reimbursed using actual costs, observe t hat the reimbursement is 
supported by an original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what 
was purchased; 

No exceptions noted. 

iii. Observe that each reimbursement is supported by documentation of the 
business/public purpose (for meal charges, observe that the 
documentation includes the names of those individuals participating) and 
other documentation required by Written Policies and Procedures 
procedure #lA(vii); and 

Observed that each reimbursement is supported by documentation of the 
business/public purpose. 

iv. Observe that each reimbursement was reviewed and approved, in writing, 
by someone other than the person receiving reimbursement. 

Observed that each reimbursement was reviewed and approved by 
someone other than the person receiving reimbursement. 

8) Contracts 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all agreements/contracts for professional 
services, materials and supplies, leases, and construction activities that were 
initiated or renewed during the fisca l period. Alternatively, the practitioner 
may use an equivalent selection source, such as an active vendor list. Obtain 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select 5 
contracts ( or all contracts if less than 5) from the I isting, excluding the 
practitioner's contract, and 

i. Observe whether the contract was bid in accordance with the Louisiana Public 
Bid Law (e .g ., solicited quotes or bids, advertised), if required by law; 

No exceptions were found as a result of this procedure. 

ii. Observe whether the contract was approved by the governing body/board, 
if required by policy or law (e.g., Lawrason Act, Home Rule Charter); 

Observed that the contract was approved by the board. 

iii. If the contract was amended (e.g., change order), observe that the original 
contract terms provided for such an amendment and that amendments 
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were made in compliance with the contract terms (e.g., if approval is 
required for any amendment, the documented approval); and 

There were no amendments to the contract. 

iv. Randomly select one payment from the fiscal period for each of the 5 
contracts, obtain the supporting invoice, agree the invoice to the 
contract terms, and observe that the invoice and related payment 
agreed to the terms and conditions of the contract. 

Observed that the invoice agreed to the terms and conditions of the 
contract. 

9) Payroll and Personnel 

A. Obtain a listing of employees and officials employed during the fiscal period 
and management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly 
select 5 employees or officials, obtain related paid salaries and personnel files, 
and agree paid salaries to authorized salaries/pay rates in the personnel files. 

Obtained a listing of employees and officials employed during the fiscal period, 
and management provided representation t hat the listing is complete. 
Randomly selected. 5 employees and agreed paid salaries to authorized 
salaries/pay rates in the personnel files. 

B. Randomly select one pay period during the fiscal period. For the 5 employees 
or officials selected under procedure #9A above, obtain attendance records 
and leave documentation for the pay period, and 

i. Observe that alt selected employees or officials documented their daily 
attendance and leave (e.g., vacation, sick, compensatory); 

Observed that all selected employees documented their daily 
attendance and leave. 

ii. Observe whether supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the 
selected employees or officials; 

Observed that supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the 
selected employees. 

iii. Observe that any leave accrued or taken during the pay period is reflected 
in the entity's cumulative leave records; and 

Observed that leave accrued and taken during the pay period is reflected 
in the entity's cumulative leave records. 

iv. Observe the rate paid to the employees or officials agrees to the authorized 
salary/pay rate found within the personnel file. 

Observed that the rate paid to employees agrees to the authorized 
salary/pay rate found within the personnel file . 
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C. Obtain a listing of those employees or officials that received termination 
payments during the fiscal period and management's representation that the 
list is complete. Randomly select two employees or officials and obtain related 
documentation of the hours and pay rates used in management's termination 
payment calculations and the entity's pol icy on termination payments. Agree 
the hours to the employee's or official 's cumulative leave records, agree the 
pay rates to the employee's or official's authorized pay rates in the employee's 
or official's personnel files, and agree the termination payment to entity policy. 

There were no termination payments during the fiscal year. 

D. Obtain management's representation that employer and employee portions of 
third-party payroll related amounts (e.g., payroll taxes, retirement 
contributions, health insurance premiums, garnishments, workers' 
compensation premiums, etc.) have been paid, and any associated forms have 
been fi led, by required deadlines. 

Management provided representation that employer and employee portions of 
third-party payroll related amounts have been paid. and any associated forms 
have been fi led. by required deadlines. 

10) Ethics 

A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel 
procedure #9A obtain ethics documentation from management, and 

a. Observe whether the documentation demonstrates that each 
employee/official completed one hour of ethics training during the 
calendar year as required by R.S. 42: 1170; and 

All employees selected for testing have documentation to demonstrate 
that the required hour of ethics training was completed during the 
calendar year. 

b. Observe whether the entity maintains documentation which 
demonstrates that each employee and official were notified of any 
changes to the entity's ethics policy during the fiscal period, as 
applicable. 

There were no changes made t o the entity's ethics policy during the 
fiscal period . 

2. Inquire and/or observe whether the agency has appointed an ethics designee 
as required by R.S. 42:1170. 

An ethics designee has been appointed. 

11) Debt Service 
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A. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes and other debt instruments issued during the fiscal 
period and management's representation that the listing is complete. Select all 
debt instruments on the listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe 
that State Bond Commission approval was obtained for each debt instrument 
issued as requ ired by Article VII, Section 8 of the Louisiana Constitution. 

Management has asserted that the Entity did not have any debt issued during 
the fiscal year. 

8. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes outstanding at the end of the fiscal period and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly select one 
bond/note, inspect debt covenants, obtain supporting documentation for the 
reserve balance and payments, and agree actual reserve balances and payments 
to those required by debt covenants (including contingency funds, short-lived 
asset funds, or other funds required by the debt covenants). 

Obtained a listing of bonds outstanding at the end of the fiscal year and 
management's representation that the listing is complete. Randomly selected 
one note for inspection and determined that there is no reserve balance 
requirement. 

12) Fraud Notice 

A. Obtain a listing of misappropriations of public funds and assets during the fiscal 
period and management's representation that the listing is complete. Select all 
misappropriations on the listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe 
that the entity reported the misappropriation(s) to the legislative auditor and the 
district attorney of the parish in which the entity is domiciled as required by R.S. 
24 :523. 

Management has asserted that the Entity did not have any misappropriations 
of public funds or assets during the reporting period. 

B. Observe that the entity has posted on its premises and website, the notice 
required by R.S. 24:523.1 concerning the reporting of misappropriation, fraud, 
waste, or abuse of public funds. 

Observed that the entity has posted on its premises. the required notice. 

13) Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity 

A. Perform the following procedures, verbally discuss the results with 
management, and report "We performed the procedure and discussed the 
results with management." 

a) Obtain and inspect the entity's most recent documentation that it has 
backed up its critical data (if there is no written documentation, then 
inquire of personnel responsible for backing up critical data) and observe 
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evidence that such backup (a) occurred within the past week, (b) was 
not stored on the government's local server or network, and ( c) was 
encrypted. 

We performed the procedure and discussed the results with 
man~ement. 

b) Obtain and inspect the entity's most recent documentation that it has 
tested/verified that its backups can be restored (if there is no written 
documentation, then inquire of personnel responsible for 
testing/verifying backup restoration) and observe evidence that the 
test/verification was successfully performed within the past 3 months. 

We performed the procedure and discussed the results with 
management. 

c) Obtain a l ist ing of the entity's computers currently in use and their 
related locations, and management's representation that the listing is 
complete. Randomly select 5 computers and observe while 
management demonstrates that the selected computers have current 
and active antivirus software and that the operating system and 
accounting system software in use are currently supported by the 
vendor. 

We performed the procedure and discussed the results with 
management. 

B. Randomly select 5 terminated employees ( or all terminated employees if less than 
5) using the list of terminated employees obtained in procedure #9C. Observe 
evidence that the selected terminated employees have been removed or disabled 
from the network. 

No exceptions noted. 

14) Prevention of Sexual Harassment 
1. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel 

procedure #9A, obtain sexual harassment training documentation from 
management, and observe that the documentation demonstrates each 
employee/official completed at least one hour of sexual harassment training 
during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42: 343. 

All employees selected for testing have documentation demonstrating the 
completion of required sexual harassment training during the calendar year. 

2. Observe that the entity has posted its sexual harassment policy and complaint 
procedure on its website ( or in a conspicuous location on the entity's premises 
if the entity does not have a website). 
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Observed that the entity has posted it sexual harassment policy and complaint 
procedure. 

3. Obtain the entity's annual sexual harassment report for the current fiscal 
period, observe that the report was dated on or before February 1, and observe 
that the report includes the applicable requirements of R. S. 42: 344: 

i. Number and percentage of public servants in the agency who have 
completed the training requirements; 

Observed that the report included requirements as stated above. 

ii. Number of sexual harassment complaints received by the agency; 

Observed that the reoort included requirements as stated above. 

iii. Number of complaints which resulted in a finding that sexual harassment 
occurred; 

Observed that the report included requirements as stated above. 

iv. Number of complaints in which the finding of sexual ha rassment resulted in 
discipline or corrective action; and 

Observed that the report included requirements as stated above. 

v. Amount of time it took to resolve each complaint. 

There were no complaints. 

Management's Response 

Management of the Town of Leonville, Louisiana concurs with the exceptions and is 
working to address the deficiencies idenlified. 

We were engaged by Town of Leonville, Louisiana to perfonn this agreed-upon procedures 
engagement and conducted our engagement in accordance with attestation standards established by 
the American Institute of Cenitied Public Accountants and applicable standards of Government 
Auditing Standards. We were no\ engaged to and did not conduct an examination or review 
engagement. the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion or conclusion, 
respectively, on !hose CIC areas identified in the SAUPs. Accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion or conclusion. Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come 
to our attention that would have been reported to you. 

We are required to be independent of Town of Leonvi lle, Louisiana and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance wilh the relevant ethical requirements related to Ollr agreed~upon 
procedures engagement. 
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This report is intended solely to describe the scope of testing perfonned on those CIC areas 
identified in the SAUPs, and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on control or 
compliance. Accordingly, this repon is not suitable for any other purpose. Under Louisiana 
Revised Statute 24:5 13 , this report is distributed by the LLA as a public document. 

Vtr, ~~ .... 1 (lfu!J 
V ige, Tujague & Noel 
Eunice, Louisiana 
November 14, 2023 
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